Schools Championing Safe South Africa: An Intervention Engaging Teachers and Students in Adolescent Prevention of HIV risk and **Intimate Partner Violence**

NCT to be assigned

Study Protocol and Statistical Analysis Plan

May 2023

Principal investigators: Catherine Mathews¹; Caroline Kuo², Abigail Harrison Co-investigators: Lindsay Orchowski³ Consultants: Yandisa Sikweyiya⁴; Alan Berkowitz⁵

Affiliations

- 1. Health Systems Research Unit, South African Medical Research Council, Cape Town, South Africa; email: catherine.mathews@mrc.ac.za
- 2. American University, School of Public Health, Brown University, Rhode Island, USA; email: caroline kuo@brown.edu 3. Alpert Medical School, Brown University, Rhode Island, USA; email: Lindsay orchowski@brown.edu
- 4. Gender and Health Research Unit, South African Medical Research Council, Pretoria, South Africa; email: <u>Yandisa.sikweyiya@mrc.ac.za</u> 5. Independent consultancy; California, USA; email: <u>alan@snowcrest.net</u>

Keywords: HIV; Intimate partner violence; prevention science; intervention

Contents

Contents	2
Executive summary	4
Aim	4
Methods	4
Outcome	5
Intended feedback	. 5
Specific Aims	. 6
Significance	. 8
Preliminary Evidence Indicating Need for Schools Championing South Africa Intervention	11
Overview of the proposed Schools Championing Safe South Africa Intervention:	15
Innovation	19
Approach and methods	21
Specific Aim 1 (Development Aim) – Formulate content for a data-driven social norms poster campaign that the foundational content for the intervention <i>School Championing Safe South Africa</i>	
Specific Aim 2 (Refinement Phase) – Refine components of the school community-level intervention	23
Specific Aim 3 (Acceptability and Feasibility Phase) – Assess the acceptability and feasibility of the interventi School Championing Safe South Africa in a pilot randomized controlled trial	
Rigor, Reproducibility, and Transparency	30
Inclusion of Individuals Across the Lifespan	31
Recruitment and retention plan	32
Aim 1: Cross-Sectional Survey	32
Aim 2: Qualitative Interview and Focus Groups	33
Aim 3: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial	34
Study timeline	36
Ethical Considerations related to the protection of human subjects	37
Risks to Human Subjects	37
a. Human Subjects Involvement, Characteristics, and Design	37
b. Study Procedures, Materials, and Potential Risks	38
Access to Individually Identifiable Information & Data Collection, Management, and Protections	40

Potential Risks to Subjects.	
Loss of Privacy or Confidentiality	
Psychological Discomfort during Data Collection	
Alternative Treatments	
Adequacy of Protection Against Risks	
a. Informed Consent and Assent	
b. Protections against Risk	
c. Vulnerable Subjects Protections	
Potential Benefits of the Proposed Research to Human Subject and Others	
Importance of Knowledge to be gained	
Data and Safety Monitoring Plan:	
Data and Safety Monitoring Board:	
Statistical design and power	
Sample Size and Power Considerations.	
Management approach	
Management approach, staff and scientific collaboration	
Multiple principal investigators (PIs)	
References	

Executive summary

Adolescence presents an ideal developmental transition period for an integrated intervention targeting prevention of HIV risk behaviors and intimate partner violence (IPV) including sexual violence. Adolescent boys in particular, are at high risk for HIV and perpetration of IPV. Yet, few behavioral interventions integrate HIV-IPV prevention and are tailored for the unique developmental needs of adolescent boys. Educational environments play a vital role in shaping behavioral choices among adolescent boys. Specifically, teachers and student peers serve as agents of change for adolescent boys' HIV and IPV prevention needs in four important ways. First, teachers and student peers influence community norms for appropriate adolescent male behaviors relating to dating, relationships, and sexual violence within the school ecology. Second, teachers and student peers have persistent contact with adolescents and thus, can play an influential role in adolescents' lives as role models for healthy norms. Third, teachers and student peers substantively motivate and reinforce protective behaviors relating to prevention of HIV and IPV. Fourth, teachers are ideally prepared to deliver age- and developmentallytailored preventive interventions to adolescents because they are professionally trained to engage with adolescents in age and developmentally appropriate teaching. Despite the important role of teachers and student peers in promoting the health of adolescents, there are currently no HIV-IPV interventions in global priority settings for these epidemics that target teachers and student peers in school environments. In this study, we will develop and then investigate the acceptability and feasibility of Schools Championing Safe South Africa, an integrated HIV-IPV intervention where teachers and student peers engage adolescent boys in a developmentally-tailored approach to prevent adolescent HIV risk behavior and IPV using a social norms approach. We work in South Africa, a country with the largest HIV epidemic and some of the highest rates of IPV in the world.

Aim

This study explores the acceptability and feasibility of a school-based intervention called *Schools Championing Safe South Africa* that engages teachers and students in an integrated approach for preventing risk behavior related to acquisition of HIV and perpetration of IPV among adolescents in South Africa. Teachers and students are agents of change who can transform the school social environment to promote HIV and IPV prevention behaviors for adolescents.

Methods

To develop the intervention, we will gather behavioral and social norms data from teachers and students (aiming for 75% of students) relating to student-level prevention of HIV and IPV in 3 public high schools in poor, Cape Town communities, to inform the social norms campaign content for *Schools Championing Safe South Africa*; (2) We will refine the content of the intervention (which will comprise a social norms poster campaign and other intervention components) using n=5-10 interviews with teachers and k=3-6 focus groups with students in School #1 (poster campaign refinement school). We will measure the acceptability and feasibility of the intervention by conducting a randomized controlled pilot trial of the social norms campaign comparing School #2 (experimental intervention school) versus School #3 (wait list control school) with 1- and 6-month follow-up to measure change

among students at high risk for sexual risk behavior and IPV perpetration (e.g., adolescent boys 15-17 years), and to assess the acceptability and feasibility of the intervention for a future fully-powered efficacy trial.

Outcome

In this study, we will develop, and then examine the acceptability and feasibility of an intervention that substantively involves teachers and student peers in supporting male adolescents in prevention of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and intimate partner violence (IPV) in South Africa. South Africa faces some of the highest global rates of HIV and IPV with sustained high incidence of HIV and alarming rates of IPV among adolescents and thus, is an ideal site to advance prevention science to tackle these urgent public health priorities. Developing school-based interventions that involve teachers and students in promoting healthy decisions among adolescent boys can support optimal health for young people, their future partners, and society. Findings will advance preventive intervention science for young people at elevated risk for HIV and IPV in a global priority setting for HIV and violence prevention.

Intended feedback

In addition to peer review papers and conference presentations, we will develop research briefs and hold inperson meetings for adolescents, school stakeholders, and policy makers. This involves dissemination of study progress as the study activities proceed including regular updates to ensure continued stakeholder buy-in and to ensure a feedback loop for the project. This also involves early dissemination of study results to gather data that may guide directions for future grant plans. Finally, this involves dissemination of study final results to stakeholders. A letter of support for the study from Dr. Whittle, Deputy Director-General of the Dept. of Basic Education demonstrates a need for school-based HIV-IPV intervention interventions for adolescent boys (Appendix A). We will provide feedback to Dr Whittle and other stakeholders in the Department of Basic Education at the national level. We will also provide feedback to the provincial, Western Cape Education Department and to the three schools in which the study is implemented.

Specific Aims

South Africa is a global priority site for the overlapping HIV and IPV epidemics, and an ideal site for advancing prevention science for these urgent public health problems. South African adolescents face exponentially greater risk for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and intimate partner violence (IPV). South Africa has the largest country population of individuals living with HIV and adolescents represent the largest share of new infections, with 88,400 adolescents newly infected each year.¹ Adolescents engage in high risk sexual behavior with 58.8% reporting condomless last sex and 17.4% reporting two more sexual partners.² Rates of IPV – defined as physical, emotional or sexual violence by a current or former partner) and sexual violence - are also among the highest in the world. For example, in a population-based survey of South African men 18-49 years, 1 in 3 men (31.9%) perpetrated rape³ with the majority (75%) perpetrating their first rape before age 20, with the average age of first rape at 17.^{4,5} Empirical data on adolescent IPV in South Africa, especially perpetration of sexual violence are rare. A study in Cape Town identified a 10% prevalence of sexual violence perpetration (defined as 'forced' sex by/of a partner or non-partner) among eighth graders.⁶ In a school-based HIV and IPV prevention study, 13% of adolescents reported perpetrating IPV.⁷ Our HIV prevention study with South African adolescents 13-15 years (in a community with 33.1% HIV prevalence⁸) indicated high rates of forced oral sex (15%), sexual touching (14%), anal sex (8%), and vaginal sex at (6%); with perpetration more common among boys than girls (34.5% vs. 20.5%).⁹ As engagement in IPV often persists over the lifespan, integrated primary prevention of HIV and IPV during adolescence offers opportunities to transform the life trajectory of the next generation of adults.

Biological and behavioral synergies between HIV risk and IPV perpetration require an integrated preventive intervention approach. Yet, in our recent systematic review, only six interventions concomitantly address HIV risk and IPV among adolescents in Sub-Saharan Africa. None focused on school community-level prevention of HIV and IPV using a social norms approach.¹⁰ Social norms exert a powerful influence on behavioral choices in favor of, or against, prevention outcomes. Problematic norms are amplified by individuals engaged in problem behavior – who are often in the minority – and erroneously believe that their problem behavior is normative and supported by others.¹¹ In contrast, misperceptions of problem behaviors as the norm by healthier individuals – who are often in the majority – can pressure healthy individuals to engage in inappropriate behavior.¹² When healthy individuals falsely believe that they are alone in their opposition to inappropriate behavior they are less likely to speak up against it.¹³ Social norms marketing campaigns repeatedly expose individuals to positive, databased messages about true norms, and in so doing, correct misperceived problematic community norms that promote HIV risk, violence, and increase the number of individuals who act in accordance with healthy community standards.^{14,15} Given the salient role of social influence during adolescence, interventions that promote healthy behavior by targeting misperceptions in peer norms are ideally suited to the developmental stage of this age group. Because adolescents are required to attend school, schools offer a well-defined community space to shape healthy norms that reinforce preventive behaviors. Our long-term goal is to prevent risk behaviors relating

to HIV and STIs, and IPV perpetration using developmentally-tailored interventions. In this R34, *our overall objective* is to develop, and then test the acceptability and feasibility of **Schools Championing Safe South Africa**, an integrated HIV-IPV intervention that uses a social norms campaign to engage teachers and student peers in preventing HIV risk and IPV perpetration among male adolescents 15-17 years. *Schools Championing Safe South Africa South Africa* focuses on school community-level prevention; if promising, it will complement the existing individual-level prevention, *Safe South Africa* that our team developed and tested. Our *rationale for this study* emerged from stakeholder feedback and preliminary data showing the need to engage teachers and students in changing norms around HIV and IPV. We propose 3 aims:

- 1. Development Aim: Formulate content for a data-driven social norms poster campaign that is the foundation for *School Championing Safe South Africa* by collecting behavioral and social norms data from teachers and students (75% student coverage in 3 schools) relating to adolescent-level HIV and IPV.
- 2. Refinement Aim: Refine components of the school community-level intervention by refining messages and visuals delivered in the social norms poster campaign, as well as the other intervention components (teacher lunch- and-learn sessions, teacher workbook, and student intercept activities) via n=5-10 interviews with teachers and k=3-6 student focus groups in School #1 (campaign refinement school).Together, these intervention components are designed to transform poster campaign messages into prevention behaviors.
- 3. Acceptability and Feasibility Aim: Assess the acceptability and feasibility of the intervention by comparing School #2 (experimental school) versus School #3 (wait list control school) in a randomized pilot trial with 1- and 6-month follow-up focusing on outcomes for students at high risk for sexual risk behavior and IPV perpetration (adolescent boys aged 15-17 years). As an exploratory secondary aim, we examine preliminary evidence for hypotheses that the intervention, relative to the control, will produce in adolescent boys: (1) reductions in actual or intended HIV risk behaviors; (2) reductions in IPV frequency and decreased endorsement of IPV supportive attitudes; and (3) increased proactive bystander intentions.

The <u>expected outcomes</u> of this R34 include acceptability and feasibility data that will inform a future fully-powered RCT to test the efficacy of *Schools Championing Safe South Africa* for preventing acquisition of HIV and IPV perpetration among adolescent boys aged 15-17 years. Our research is aligned with the Trans-NIH Plan for HIV, NIMH, and NIAID strategic priorities including "eliminating disparities across the globe", and a focus upon behavioral and social interventions that address "community norms and practices influence individuals' behaviors".

Significance

South Africa sits at the global epicenter of overlapping HIV and IPV epidemics, and is an ideal site to develop primary prevention science for adolescents most at risk for these urgent public health problems. The bi-directional relationship between human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and intimate partner violence (IPV) indicates the need for an integrated preventive intervention. Several systematic reviews and meta-analyses identify causal and non-causal mechanisms linking HIV and IPV. Causal mechanisms linking increased HIV risk with sexual IPV – one form of IPV – include increased genital or anal tissue trauma associated with increased infection risk. Non-causal mechanisms include positive correlation between HIV infection and those who perpetrate IPV¹⁶ and higher rates of HIV risk behaviors among IPV perpetrators including decreased condom use,^{17,18} concurrent and/or multiple sexual partners,^{17,19} alcohol and substance use, and higher rates of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs).^{20,21} HIV acquisition risk is significantly higher among individuals who have experienced IPV. For example, a global systematic review and meta-analysis of 28 studies with N=331,468 women (including 4 South African studies), indicated that any type of IPV was significantly associated with HIV infection.²² A preventive intervention to address IPV perpetrators, and current or future partners. Adolescence offers an ideal developmental transition point for prevention.

South Africa has the largest HIV epidemic of any country in the world,¹ with adolescents accounting for the majority of new HIV infections.²³ Adolescents are naturally at increased risk due to normal developmental milestones.²⁴ Initial sexual experiences frequently occur at this age, corresponding to increased risk for acquisition of HIV, other STIs, and IPV. Adolescent males are engaging in HIV risk behavior at higher rates than females: 67.7% of adolescent males reported condomless last sex compared to 49.8% for females, and 25.5% of adolescent males reported two or more sexual partners compared to 9% among females.² South Africa also has a high global burden of IPV. Globally, the sub-Saharan African region, including South Africa, has the highest prevalence for both intimate partner and non-partner sexual and/or physical violence at 65.6% (95% CI: 53.6-77.7%)²⁵ and 21% (95% CI: 4.5-37.5%) respectively.²⁶ While violence occurs across the lifespan, preventive interventions are urgently needed during adolescence, especially in South Africa because 75% of adult perpetrators commit their first rape before the age of 20.4,5 Although all genders perpetrate violence, the vast majority of sexual violence is perpetrated by males; in South Africa, 1 in 3 men (31.9%) reported rape perpetration.³ In our HIV prevention study with South African adolescents 13-15 years (in a community with 33.1% HIV prevalence⁸) male adolescents were more likely to engage in forced sexual touching, oral, vaginal, and anal sex compared to females (34.5% vs. 20.5%). Alarmingly, 14% of boys from our preliminary study engaged in repeat perpetration.⁹ These data indicate that boys would especially benefit from integrated HIV-IPV perpetration prevention.

Adolescents have unique prevention needs and tailoring interventions to this age group allows us to better leverage developmental milestones for large prevention gains early in the lifecourse. The ideal age range for targeting adolescent boys most at risk for HIV and IPV perpetration is aged 15 to 17 years. In a large longitudinal prospective cohort study of South African adolescents, the median age of penetrative sexual debut was 15 years, with 38.2% of males engaged in penetrative debut at this age);²⁷ in a large representative sample of rape perpetratration among males in South Africa, participants reported an average age of 17 years for first rape perpetration.^{4,5} Alignment of age of sexual debut with age of perpetration underscores the need for interventions during adolescence. Our intervention approach integrates prevention of both HIV risk and IPV perpetration, with a purposive focus on male adolescents. A focus on preventing IPV perpetration (focused on males) in relation to HIV, as opposed to reducing risk for IPV victimization (most often focused on females), is central to our effort to expand intervention approaches for HIV-IPV.

Limited Evidence for Adolescent-tailored HIV-IPV Interventions - Only six intervention studies have taken an integrated approach to HIV-IPV in sub-Saharan Africa, with only two specifically tailored to South African adolescents. Our systematic review on integrated HIV and IPV interventions for adolescents in sub-Saharan Africa identified only six interventions concomitantly address HIV and IPV among adolescents and none utilized a social norms approach.¹⁰ Four interventions occurred in South Africa: *PREPARE*, *IMAGE*, *Stepping Stones*, and Kalichman's unnamed intervention. Only Kalichman's intervention exclusively targeted IPV perpetration and was male-focused but did not include adolescents under 18 years. Kalichman et al.'s quasi-experimental study recruited male participants 18 years and older to compare the effects of a trial IPV/HIV intervention with an HIV/alcohol intervention on IPV perpetration and risk of STI. The intervention was delivered in five 3-hour integrated IPV and HIV risk-reduction group sessions. The intervention group did not show any differences for increased condom use, decreased number of sexual partners, or decreased occurrence of unprotected sex. At the sixmonth follow-up, the intervention group showed decreased perpetration of past-month physical IPV (OR 0.3, 95% CI 0.2-0.4).²⁸ The other three interventions in South Africa either examined risk reduction or a mix of perpetration and risk reduction and only two included adolescents in the age range of this proposed R34; notably only two interventions (PREPARE and Stepping Stones) specifically targeted adolescents.¹⁰ PREPARE led by Dr. Mathews (M-PI of this proposed R34 study) was a multi-component school-based intervention designed to decrease IPV and HIV risk behavior among adolescents. PREPARE was tested in a cluster RCT in 42 schools, targeting Grade 8 adolescents. The 21-session group-based intervention was accompanied by school health and school safety components. At the 12 month follow-up, intervention participants were less likely to report IPV victimization (35.1 vs. 40.9 %; OR: 0.77; 95 % CI 0.61–0.99) but had no changes in HIV risk.²⁹ There are 6 key differences between PREPARE and our proposed intervention: (1) PREPARE focused on all genders, while Schools Championing Safe South Africa focuses specifically on boys. (2) PREPARE focused on younger adolescents 13-14 years, most who have not had intimate partnerships. Our intervention focuses on older adolescents 15-17, who are more likely to have experience with intimate partnerships and sex. (3) PREPARE focused on changing the adolescent's "own" attitudes to the acceptability of IPV and rape but did not use a social norms approach for IPV or HIV. (4) PREPARE did not involve teachers in any classroom activities. (6) In PREPARE, there were no in-school classroom activities. All interactions with students took place after school, between students and facilitators employed by the research team; there was large attrition in attendance over time in PRE-PARE – and in a PREPARE publication (DOI 10.1186/s12889-015-1963-3), Mathews described this missed opportunity for reaching those at risk – which our intervention addresses. *IMAGE* RCT included 14-35 year olds,

and investigated whether a microfinance intervention delivered over 6-9 months providing economic stability and complemented with education on male gender norms, domestic violence, sexuality and HIV could reduce IPV among adults. After two years, intervention participants reported lower risk of past-year physical or sexual violence by an intimate partner (adjusted risk ratio=0.45; 95% CI: 0.23-0.91) but no changes in HIV incidence.³⁰ *Stepping Stones* RCT was a participatory intervention designed to reduce HIV, herpes simplex type 2 (HSV-2) among young men and women 15-26 years old living in the Eastern Cape province of South Africa. The group-based intervention was delivered in weekly sessions for 6-8 weeks. *Stepping Stones* was not associated with reduced HIV incidence, but demonstrated 33% reduction in Type 2 herpes simplex virus (aIRR 0.67, 95% CI 0.46-0.97). A lower proportion of male participants reported IPV perpetration at two-year follow-up in the intervention group compared to the control (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 0.62, 95% CI 0.38-1.01).³¹ Our review demonstrates an urgent need for interventions tailored for adolescents, targeting the school environment, and focusing on primary prevention of violence integrated with HIV.

Social Norms Campaigns Constitute a Novel Theoretical Approach for Community-level HIV-IPV Prevention -No existing HIV-IPV intervention studies in sub-Saharan Africa utilized a social norms approach for integrated prevention of HIV and IPV.¹⁰ Social norms are differentiated from personal attitudes in that they convey ideas about behavior that is (mis)perceived to be normal and socially accepted.³² While social norms marketing campaigns have not yet been tested for integrated primary prevention of HIV-IPV, social norms marketing campaigns have shown promise in preventing bullying, problem alcohol use, and dating violence, as well as mosquito nets for malaria prevention in Southern Africa.^{12,33-35} Social norms create a potentially powerful risk or protective pathway for interlinked risks of HIV and IPV. Dr. Berkowitz (expert consultant) and others have described four theoretical assumptions in how social norms theory can be applied to promote positive change in the community norms that sustain sexual risk behavior, IPV, and sexual violence:^{36,37} 1) community norms influence behavior; 2) positive community norms aligned with prevention can be reinforced; 3) community norms are often misperceived (i.e., they are over- or under-estimated) and misperceptions encourage individuals to adjust their attitudes and behaviors to conform to what they incorrectly perceive to be true;³⁸ and 4) correcting misperceptions allows individuals to act in accordance with their actual beliefs, which are most often positive and health promoting.³⁸ Positive behavior is generally the norm, but individuals tend to believe that problem behavior is more common.¹² Changing norms contributes to prevention of HIV and IPV.³⁹

Using Social Norms Campaigns in Prevention – The social norms approach is ideally suited for the developmental stage of adolescence in well-defined communities such as schools. Early experiences around relationships, sexual behavior, and violence during adolescence can uniquely shape young people's social norms around what is healthy/unhealthy norms for future relationships.⁴⁰ Schools constitute important community environments for social norms formation; adolescents spend a large segment of their day in school and social interactions with student peers and teachers are critical to identity development and health behaviors.⁴¹⁻⁴⁵ Thus, leveraging the school ecology (including teachers and student peers) to establish healthy norms among adolescents just as they are establishing attitudes towards sex, relationships, and violence may help to shape patterns of healthy behavior across the lifespan. This R34 proposal will advance the science of community-level primary prevention by rigorously evaluating a comprehensive data-driven social norms marketing poster campaign designed to promote school environmental change for HIV-IPV perpetration prevention. Over the long term, we intend to combine the school community-level primary prevention intervention being piloted in this R34 (*Schools Championing Safe South Africa*) with a parallel line research, the individual-level intervention (*Safe South Africa* described under Preliminary Evidence) that was previously piloted by our team and is moving towards efficacy testing. Evaluating the promise of a stand-alone social norms marketing campaign in reducing sexual risk behavior relating to HIV and STIs, and sexual violence is a vital first step in understanding whether this community-level intervention strategy should be incorporated into more comprehensive combination prevention approaches that target multiple levels of the social ecology. If both the community- and individual-level interventions are efficacious, their pairing would create a comprehensive combination prevention for HIV-IPV.

Preliminary Evidence Indicating Need for Schools Championing South Africa Intervention

Our team recently completed 6-month follow-up for a R34 testing Safe South Africa (R34MH113484-01), an intervention that targets individual-level behavior change for N=80 adolescents boys aged 15-17 years who are at risk for HIV and IPV perpetration. Boys regardless of HIV, sexual status, or previous perpetration behavior were eligible for inclusion. In brief, the Safe South Africa intervention was adapted to integrate HIV prevention, and the South African context based on the existing Safe Intervention (tested previously in the USA by co-I Orchowski and consultant Dr. Berkowitz);⁴⁶⁻⁵³ Safe is a gender- and developmentally-tailored intervention designed to reduce actual or intended HIV risk behaviors; reduce IPV perpetration frequency and decrease endorsement of IPV supportive attitudes; and increase proactive bystander behavior. The final Safe South Africa intervention is a group-based, facilitated behavioral intervention for HIV risk and IPV perpetration comprised of 2-hour sessions, held weekly for two weeks. The intervention is based on two individual behavior change theories: (a) the HIV risk prevention components were based on the Information-Motivation-Behavioral (IMB) theory; and (b) the IPV perpetration prevention components were based on a conceptual model called the Integrated Model of Sexual Assault and Acquaintance Rape (a conceptual model original proposed by Dr. Berkowitz, expert consultant).^{54,55} This model proposes interventions to prevent IPV, interpersonal violence, and sexual aggression are most salient when adolescent males must consider their own potential for intimate and interpersonal violence (i.e., attitudes, beliefs and socialization experiences) and take a stand against violence perpetrated by others.⁵⁶

Our preliminary data from the existing R34 on *Safe South Africa* clearly indicate a need for developing the <u>school</u> <u>community-level intervention</u> (*Schools Championing Safe South Africa*). We focus on baseline, feasibility and acceptability data, and exploratory data analysis on preliminary evidence of intervention on outcomes.

HIV and STI risk behaviors are high, IPV frequent: 89% of boys aged 15-17 years at baseline had engaged in lifetime vaginal and/or anal sex. 16% of sexually active boys at baseline had never used a condom. 4% reported being HIV positive. 64% had ever been tested for HIV (testing does not need parental consent and is free). 56% of boys at baseline had engaged in or attempted to engage in IPV.

High risk in-school youth can be reached in school settings. The above HIV and STI risk behaviors, and IPV perpetration were reported by in-school youth. In South Africa, learners in grades 8 and 9 are

required by law to be in school. While there is some drop-out in grades 10 and 11, a significant number of high risk youth can still be reached in school settings.⁵⁷

Misperceived social norms in South Africa are tied to problematic HIV and IPV behaviors. Correcting misperceived social norms is a promising approach for HIV-IPV prevention in South Africa. There was a positive correlation of 0.34 between misperceived norms score regarding a partner's satisfaction during sex and anal sex perpetration (p-value = 0.002). Adolescent boys who agreed that "a man should know what his partner likes during sex" but believed their friends disagreed were more likely to force someone to have anal sex than both adolescent boys whose perception was similar to peers and adolescent boys who perceived their peers to agree more strongly with the statement than they did. There was a similar positive correlation between misperceived norms score regarding a partner's satisfaction during sex and number of reported attempts or completed perpetration in the past 12 months (0.28; pvalue = 0.012), any oral sex perpetration attempt (0.28; p-value = 0.013), and lifetime number of vaginal or anal sex partners (0.28; p-value = 0.018). There was a negative correlation of -0.25 between misperceived norms score regarding whether one could demand sex and any forced vaginal sex perpetration attempt (p-value = 0.028). Adolescent boys who disagreed with the statement "girls should have sex with their boyfriend or the guy they are dating when he wants" but believed their friends would approve of having sexual intercourse with many women during the year were more likely to attempt to force someone to have vaginal sex than both adolescent boys who perceived their peers to respond equally and adolescent boys who agreed but perceived their peers to disapprove.

Safe South Africa is highly feasible: First, we captured feasibility by coding fidelity in a random selection of 20% of all sessions. Fidelity was captured through live fidelity coding, where a neutral observer coded skills and adherence to protocol in the facilitators' delivery using rankings ranging from 1 to 3. The ranking of "1" was equivalent to low demonstration of skills <25% of the time and "3" was equivalent to high demonstration of skills >75%. <u>Safe South Africa was implemented with rigorous fidelity.</u> The intervention facilitators exhibited skilled delivery of the intervention, with an average ranking of "3" for seven of the 11 skills, including active engagement with participants; active listening; respectful, positive communication; warmth, concern, confidence, professionalism; building participant confidence; ending all activities with positive prevention; and consistency with the emphasis on consent. The intervention facilitators were scored an average of 2.75 on the remaining four skills evaluated. <u>Second, we examined feasibility by tracking recruitment and retention data. We were able to recruit at a rapid pace, successfully finding enough participants over 5 weeks, and this informs are current timeline estimates. We achieved 100% retention at the 1-month follow-up and 97% retention at the 6-month follow-up for all in spite of a challenging scientific environment including working around school schedules, tracking and tracing students with no street names or home addresses, no postal service, few landline phones, and migration.</u>

Safe South Africa is highly acceptable: 100% rated the quality of the program as "good" or "excellent", would recommend the program to a friend, and felt information would help address important life issues.

Safe South Africa was not powered for efficacy and thus underpowered to examine study outcomes between trial arms. However, we saw promising differences between arms, and direction of effects in the intervention arm. At six months post-intervention, those in the intervention arm were significantly less likely than the control group to have perpetrated vaginal sex in the past five months (0% vs. 13%, p-value = 0.04). There was an increase in the proportion of adolescents who reported ever having refused sex because they did not have a condom (85% at M6 vs. 48% at BL; p-value = 0.005). Furthermore, there was a significant reduction in both vaginal and anal sex perpetration comparing prevalence prior to base-line and prevalence in the past five months, despite a significant and expected increase in the average number of lifetime anal/vaginal sex partners from 6.7 at baseline to 13.8 six months post-intervention. Specifically, 23% and 20% of adolescents at baseline reported ever having perpetrated vaginal and anal sex, respectively; none reported vaginal or anal perpetration in the past five months (p-value = 0.006 and 0.01, respectively). Finally, there was an increase in equitable gender norms (GEM score: 53.5 at BL, 57.0 at M6; p-value = 0.01) and a reduction in rape myth acceptance (RMA score: 22.5 at BL, 18.6 at M6; p-value = 0.03)

While highly feasible and acceptable, Safe South Africa intervention does not address school community-level factors that influence adolescent boys' risk for HIV and IPV perpetration: The existing Safe South Africa only addressed individual-level behavior change and only involves adolescent boys 15-17. This R34 proposal would introduce Schools Championing Safe South Africa Intervention to directly address school community environmental factors that contribute substantively to HIV risk and IPV perpetration among adolescent boys 15-17 years of age and engage teachers and peers into prevention efforts given that they are important influencers of HIV and IPV perpetration behaviors for adolescent boys.

School stakeholders provided strong feedback that they wanted to be directly involved in changing the school community-environment to support prevention of HIV-IPV among the target group of adolescent boys: We engaged in stakeholder meetings with the school principals, teachers, and school staff prior to study launch and as the study progressed. We are currently engaging in meetings focused on dissemination of findings. In these school stakeholder meetings, we received strong feedback that schools wanted teacher and student peers be directly involved in creating a school environment that supports prevention change among the target group of adolescent boys. A letter of support from the National Department of Education reinforces a desire for this approach towards school-based HIV-IPV intervention (Appendix A).

We also present preliminary data from Dr. Orchowski's (co-l's) studies that demonstrate the powerful role teachers and peers have in shaping norms and the strong promise of a social norms approach for prevention of IPV perpetration in the USA, complementing the South African preliminary data above. In an evaluation of perceived norms among high school students and (N = 7673) and teachers (N = 986) in 27 high schools in the United

States, teachers consistently misperceived the norm among students, notably underestimating healthy behavior and overestimating negative behavior to a greater extent than students. For example, whereas 94.1% of students reported that it was wrong to pressure someone to have sex, teachers estimated that only 53.4% of students would believe this to be wrong; whereas students estimated that only 78.5% of their peers would believe this to be wrong. In summary, preliminary data provide a compelling case that an intervention addressing school community-level factors (i.e., *Schools Championing Safe South Africa Intervention*) would be the <u>logical next step for developing interventions targeting primary prevention of HIV-IPV</u> in a priority population and setting.

Overview of the proposed *Schools Championing Safe South Africa* Intervention:

The foundation of the proposed intervention - Schools Championing Safe South Africa - is a social norms marketing poster campaign. We have specifically chosen this low-tech approach (rather than apps, websites, other media) for South Africa with future sustainability and scalability in mind. The impoverished communities and public schools where we work have students who may not own phones and limited/no web data, schools have intermittent electricity, and there is limited or no access to internet and computers for students. Whereas social norms media campaigns are often viewed as "poster campaigns", this campaign is more comprehensive in nature in that messaging is linked to a variety of other compatible and synergistic activities in the community designed to create immersive exposure to poster messaging. Research shows these components complementing the poster campaign are necessary to support behavior change. Specifically, posters are complemented by careful messaging to correct misperceived norms to support prevention, implementation of concurrent efforts to engage the audience in conversations about accurate norms messaging and techniques for bystander intervention, and training of teachers and students to serve as active bystanders in the process for adolescents boys at high risk for HIV risk behaviors and IPV perpetration (e.g., the intervention target group).^{36,58-60} This process will take place over several months in each school. The core components of the intervention are detailed in Table 1 and summarized below the table. Although intervention components involve the entire school community (e.g., teachers and student peers), intervention elements come together to support behavior change targeting adolescents at highest risk for HIV and perpetration of IPV, e.g., adolescent boys aged 15-17 years.

Table 1. Core Inter	vention Components
Target Member of the Commu- nity	Intervention Activity
Students	Participate in Normative School Survey (all 3 schools) Participate in Focus Groups to Refine Posters (school #1 – refinement school, exclusion of schools #2 and 3 to avoid contamination) Receive Targeted Poster Messaging (school #2 – intervention school; school #3 as wait list control) Receive Classroom Activities (from Teacher Workbook) (school #2 – intervention school; school #3 as wait list control) Receive List control
	Participate in Intercept Activities to Deepen Behavioral Change Goals of Poster Campaign (school #2 – intervention school)
Teachers	Participate in Normative Survey (all 3 schools) Participate in Interviews to Refine Posters (school #1 – refinement school, exclusion of schools #2 and 3 to avoid contamination)
	Receive Lunch and Learn Teacher Training (school #2 – intervention school; school #3 as wait list control)
	Receive Teacher Workbook Guiding Student Intercept Activities) (school #2 – intervention school; school #3 as wait list control). Team provides ongoing technical assistance to help teachers engage in activities around the campaign.

<u>Step 1: Engaging Stakeholders:</u> As a school community-level change strategy, the goal of the proposed social norms marketing poster campaign is to change community mind-set. Given the widespread reach of misperceived norms, some key stakeholders in a community may display resistance to the approach. Therefore, the

first step in implementation is to educate key stakeholders about the model, and the plan for implementation. Stakeholder resistance will be addressed prior to the implementation of the campaign through stakeholder meetings with school administrators and teachers. A school champion (e.g., principal, teacher, counselor) will also be nominated to coordinate the campaign and engage other teachers in the initiative.

<u>Step 2: Identifying Misperceptions</u>: Individual communities may hold a range of false beliefs relating to HIV and STI risk, sexual risk behaviors, dating relationships, and sexual violence. Student and teacher participation in a <u>normative school survey</u> of perceived norms around these behaviors will identify core misperceptions in community norms within schools. To increase the credibility of the survey, it is essential that the survey have reach. As such, we aim to include a minimum of 75% of the target intervention school community.

Step 3: Selecting/Testing the Message and Visual Poster Media Development: The social norms marketing poster campaign is <u>data-driven</u>. We focus on two sets of data for <u>the targeted poster messaging</u> to be used in the poster media campaign. First, we focus on items with a discrepancy between the actual and perceived norms. Second, in cases where engagement in problematic behavior is high, and norms correspond to this, we focus on changing norms relating to mechanisms of behavior change. For example, if problem behavior such as rates of HIV risk behavior are high, we focus on increasing protective behavior and decreasing risky behavior by challenging pluralistic ignorance (where the majority of the group privately rejects a problematic norm, but incorrectly assumes that most others accept it) and by addressing false consensus (were positive norms show individuals engaging in problematic behavior that their actions are not normative and that the group does not support them). In order to be salient, only messages endorsed by >75% of the community will be selected for inclusion in the campaign. Potential messages will be discussed within <u>focus groups consisting of students and individual interviews with teachers</u>. Interviews with teachers and focus groups with students will also be utilized to determine a unifying and recognizable theme, and to identify appealing and clear presentation.

Step 4: Readying the Community by Training Teachers in How to Support the Campaign Through Classroom Activities and Engage Students in Conversations that Facilitate Norms Change: Teachers can be critical "carriers of community misperceptions". As such, they represent important targets in a social norms messaging campaign. We engage teachers in three ways. First, we train teachers to be effective in their role of amplifying the campaign using meetings with teachers (i.e., via Lunch and Learn Teacher Trainings). The goal of this is to facilitate wide-spread diffusion of the messaging. Second, we provide teachers with an activity toolbox that they can use in the classroom to support the campaign. This Teacher Workbook has activities grounded in social norms theory designed to coach them through supporting corrections of misperceived norms for students (and in so doing, themselves). Examples of student activities from prior social norms marketing campaigns include: 1) fostering discussions as questions arise from students; 2) integrating school data into "Life Orientation" health classes; and 3) distributing handouts on school norms. The Workbook will be refined in consultation with Drs. Berkowitz and Sikeyiya. Third, we support teachers in engaging students in conversations about the campaign that challenge "kick-back" (i.e., the disbelief that naturally occurs when a salient norm is challenged); this will take the form of a FAQ about the campaign and ways to facilitate discussion about "kick-back" with examples of student activities. These activities have been utilized in Co-I Dr. Orchowski's administration of school-based social norms campaigns in U.S. middle and high schools to successfully train and engage teachers.

Step 5: Implement Social Norms Poster Media. A total of 6-12 posters will be developed for each school (the control group will receive the posters as a wait list, after all trial activities have been completed). Each poster will address an identified misperception for the community. Posters will address the following themes: 1) social pressures to be sexually active or engage in HIV and STI risk behavior; 2) (mis)perceived acceptability of dating and sexual violence; 3) gender role beliefs that facilitate aggression or submissive behavior; 4) (mis)perceived embarrassment regarding sexual communication and consent; 5) community support for victims; and 6) perceived support for proactive bystander intervention. Care will be taken to ensure that poster messaging is relevant to all genders since posters have the potential to affect all in the school community, but posters will also include specific messaging that targets the priority adolescent group for the intervention (boys 15-17 years). For example, posters will include specific messaging addressing masculinity and its connection with violence. All posters will include a description of survey methods to enhance believability that the data was derived from the majority of the school community. Posters will be placed in each classroom and in high traffic areas of the school. <u>Posters will remain up for 2 weeks, and then be rotated in order to avoid habituation</u>. Intervention materials will be provided to the school so they can be incorporated into newsletters, presentations, and programs for school events.

Step 6: Addressing Criticism (a.k.a. "Kick-Back"). Given that social norms marketing attempts to change community culture, it is vital to plan for "kick-back" from the community. Addressing issues relating to the believability of the social norms marketing campaign requires having someone within the community who is trained to facilitate conversations about these issues. Towards this goal, the school randomized to receive the campaign (school #2) will have study staff involved in conducting intercept activities with students (modeling this for teachers will support teachers in their own intercept activities) to monitor believability and "kick-back" to the campaign. Intercept activities will take place during 3 visits, facilitated by our team. In the first visit, intercept activities address: 1) whether students/teachers see the message; 2) whether students/teachers believe the message; and 3) whether students/teachers think their friends/colleagues believe the message. If the messaging is not deemed credible, follow-up questions will ascertain why not. In cases where messaging is not believed, the study staff will challenge the source of disbelief using techniques developed by Dr. Berkowitz and Dr. Orchowski in similar campaigns. Prior work in this area suggests that messages are sometimes not believed because teachers are making negative comments about a campaign, or because students believe that their peers were not honest in their survey responses. Students may also utilize extreme examples of behavior (i.e., graffiti, newsworthy events) to discredit the campaign. In these cases, opportunities for teacher training can be provided, interoffice messages can be sent to teachers, and classroom discussions can be implemented to educate students on how the most visible behavior (although most extreme) is not typically the norm. Study consultant Dr. Alan Berkowitz will be available throughout the study to consult with the study staff in developing and implementing strategies for assessing and addressing "kick-back". In the second visit, intercept activities will address: 1) whether students/teachers have talked about the message with their peers/colleagues/students; 2) whether students/teachers had challenges in that discussion and how to overcome those challenges. In the third visit, intercept activities

will address: 1) whether students/teachers want to develop skills as active bystanders; 2) and skills development in active bystander intervention techniques for HIV risk behavior and violence prevention. We will train the school champion (described in Step 1) to address "kick-back" to promote sustained implementation.

<u>Step 7: Evaluate.</u> Formal outcome assessments will be conducted with target adolescents (boys 15-17 years) at pre- (baseline) and post-intervention (1- and 6- months), and with teachers as baseline and post-intervention. The teacher champion will monitor the posters to ensure visibility and that the campaign maintains intensity.

Innovation

Our study offers several innovations. First, we develop our scientific understanding of developmentally appropriate preventive interventions to address the adolescent intersection of HIV behavioral and IPV perpetration risk. Based on our recent systematic review detailed previously, this will be the first intervention to prevent adolescent HIV risk and IPV perpetration in an integrated manner, using a social norms approach to transform community-level environments in a high priority global setting where prevalence of HIV and IPV is high. Second, our approach is differentiated from general "social marketing" campaigns; social norms marketing campaigns convey messages about positive community norms in a very different way. Specifically, the messaging of social marketing campaigns is generally broad and non-specific, whereas the messaging of social norms marketing campaigns is data-based and community-specific⁶¹⁻⁶³. Messages in social norms marketing campaigns are chosen to correct under-endorsement of specific beliefs in a community (e.g., "98% of men in this community believe it is important to treat women with respect"). By repeatedly exposing individuals to a variety of positive, databased messages about the true norms in their community, social norms marketing campaigns aim to reduce the misperceptions that sustain problem behavior and increase the proportion of individuals who are likely to act in accord with the actual, prosocial community norms of health, and safety^{14,15}. Research has yet to rigorously test the efficacy of social norms marketing campaigns to address dating and sexual violence. Third, the present study advances the science of HIV and sexual violence prevention research by addressing several of the existing limitations in prior implementation of social marketing campaigns in general, and social norms marketing campaigns in particular. A weakness of social marketing campaigns is that they use "stock" or "prefabricated" posters to spread positive norms messages. Although standard posters are easy to implement in a community, specifically-tailored messages are likely to be more personally and culturally relevant than generic media. As a result, social norms marketing campaigns—which are distinguished by the provision of community-specific data within messaging—are likely to be more powerful than social marketing campaigns. Our study overcomes several weaknesses observed in existing social norms marketing programs that have received empirical evaluation^{33,64} by newly incorporating a plan for addressing "kick-back". Efforts to change community norms are apt to evoke cognitive dissonance among community members; as a result, expecting kick-back and being proactive to assess and address it is a vital component of "best practice" in social norms marketing. We do so through a comprehensive campaign that involves teachers and students in the development of messaging and by working directly with these "carriers of misperceived norms" through activities as summarized in Table 1. Fourth, if found to be efficacious, this intervention offers immediate prevention promise for adolescent males, as well as community benefits for teachers and other students, and the long-term promise for current and future partners of these male adolescents by preventing negative consequences of HIV and IPV. Finally, our **fifth** innovation is that our intervention is directly policy-relevant, consistent with the government policy encouraging structured inschool and after-school health-related activities as part of Integrated School Health Policy. We purposively choose to test acceptability and effectiveness of this HIV-IPV preventive intervention in school settings because a systematic review has shown numerous challenges to reaching youth for sexual health services within health

facility settings⁶⁵ and because this intervention strategy is scalable with support in the policy realm given South Africa's commitment to integrating health interventions and services into school settings.⁶⁶

Approach and methods

In this proposed R34 Grant, we will focus on testing the <u>acceptability</u> and <u>feasibility</u> of *Schools Championing Safe South Africa* in preparation for a future R01 efficacy trial. We are underpowered to gather biomarker data on HIV and STI incidence may have limited utility given the acceptability and feasibility focus of this study; we plan to collect biological data on HIV and STIs – as aligned with NIH HIV research strategy – in a future RCT.

Language. All study materials and procedures will be conducted in English or isiXhosa. Study materials will be translated by a professional translator. Multi-lingual research assistants (RAs) will conduct procedures in the preferred language. We draw from our established research networks to hire a team experienced in HIV and violence preventive intervention development and testing research with adolescents.

Site Selection. We build on our team's extensive experience conducting school-based interventions, adolescent HIV and IPV interventions, and prevention research in South Africa. <u>We select schools in high HIV prevalence</u> <u>communities in Western Cape where we have previously worked with success in our school-based intervention</u> <u>trials with this age group.^{29,67-69}</u> See letter of support from the Department of Basic Education (Appendix A).

Specific Aim 1 (Development Aim) – Formulate content for a data-driven social norms poster campaign that is the foundational content for the intervention *School Championing Safe South Africa*

Goals. In the **Development Phase (Aim 1)** we begin with a survey of teachers (Appendix B), as well as student peers (Appendix C) to evaluate community-level social ecology of HIV and IPV risk. This survey data will <u>generate evidence-based social norms messages to create a poster campaign</u> tailored to address specific social-ecological risk and protective factors for HIV and IPV. We gather social norms from teachers and all student peers on adolescent-level HIV and IPV. It is vital to include teachers and all students, not just the target group most at risk (adolescents boys aged 15-17 years) because social norms theory suggests that individual misperception of community norms are shaped by the extent to which others in a community endorse and reinforce misperceived norms. Teachers and student peers may convey acceptance of coercive dating behavior through indirect remarks and may be "carriers of the (mis)perception" in adolescent boys' lives that indivertently reinforce unhealthy behavior.⁷⁰

Survey of Social Ecology. In preparation for Aims 2 and 3, we conduct school surveys to understand the social ecology of the school community. We aim for 75% coverage of all teachers and students in schools (school size varies, but we estimate this will be N=1500 students and N=120 teachers across three schools). For the teacher survey, we will recruit all teachers in the school. Interested teachers will speak privately with the study team to be screened for eligibility. <u>Inclusion criteria</u> includes: (1) any teacher in the school. We will include teachers regardless of what age group they teach. For teachers interested in participation, our team will then proceed with the <u>consent</u> process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form (Appendix D) from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then complete the survey. The brief

school social ecology climate survey assesses: (1) predicted prevalence of adolescents' IPV and sexual behaviors in their school; (3) norms and attitudes of teachers around adolescent's sex, HIV, gender, and IPV.

For the student survey, we will recruit student peers by visiting all classrooms, briefly explaining the purpose of the anonymous survey. Then we will follow the subsequent <u>consent and assent</u> process, which we have given careful consideration based on our own research of the most appropriate consent procedures for low-risk research with adolescents in school settings.⁷¹ Our team will visit classrooms to describe the survey to students. We will provide parents/legal guardians a letter about the nature of the research and a consent form seeking their permission for their child's participation (Appendix E), and we will provide a period of 1-2 weeks to return the form which includes our teams' contact details to answer questions and concerns. Then we revisit high school classes 1-2 weeks later. For adolescents with parental consent forms, we will verify <u>eligibility for adolescent</u> <u>surveys</u>. Inclusion criteria include: (1) adolescents attending the high school. We include adolescents attending the school regardless of gender and age (anticipating a range of 12-19 years) to get a full assessment of social ecology (rather than just focusing on the target group of the intervention, males aged 15-17 years). Interested and eligible adolescents go through assent procedures using a consent form (Appendix F). Then we provide a brief survey assessing: (1) IPV and HIV behavior data (students only); (2) predicted prevalence of IPV and sexual behaviors in their school; (3) norms and attitudes around sex, HIV, gender, and IPV.

Reimbursement. For the brief school social ecology climate survey, students and teachers will receive a small token (e.g., keychain, stationary) as appreciation.

Analysis. We will check all forms for missing data in field and during entry. We will examine key variables for skewness, variability, missing data, and outliers, with transformations to achieve normality if needed. We will conduct chi-square, Fisher's exact and t-tests to examine associations between participant demographic characteristics, social norms, and actual or predicted IPV behaviors. We look for differences between perceived norms and actual norms/behaviors. <u>Findings inform social norms messages for the campaign.</u>

Development of draft social norms posters and complementary intervention elements. First, we will work as a team to select the initial draft messages and visuals for poster media development (to be tested for refinement in Aim 2). We will target norms where there is a salient discrepancy between the actual and perceived norm in the school. We will ensure representation of norms that are addressing IPV and HIV as well as the intersection of these 2 targets. Not all norms need to be positive in the school environment for the campaign to be applicable; even when problem behavior is present in a community, it is useful to correct the misperception of positive norms held in the community, to facilitate change in negative problem behavior. Final drafts of 6-12 posters for each school (described in Step 5 of the intervention overview above) will be developed by Glad Works, a creative agency with over 25 years of experience in visual media, communications strategy and management, copywriting, technology, and multimedia production; Glad Works has worked successfully with Drs Orchowski and Berkowitz in their social norms interventions including Dr. Orchowski's school-based interventions. We will combine Glad Works specialized experience in the production of materials with in-house expertise of the South African Medical Research Council's experienced communications team which consists of designers

and marketing specialists familiar with media used in behavioral interventions in the South African context. Second, we will draft materials for the <u>Teacher Workbook</u> (described in Step 4 of the intervention overview above). This workbook includes a teacher-friendly manual, walking them through the classroom intercept activities grounded in social norms theory that coach them through supporting corrections of misperceived norms for students (and in so doing, themselves). Third, we will develop an intervention facilitator for <u>3 types of intercept</u> <u>activities with students</u> to monitor believability and "kick-back" to the campaign (described in Step 6 above) including how to engage students and teachers in challenging kickback, supporting teachers and students in engaging each other to change norms, and active bystander behavior. Finally, we draft materials for the <u>Lunch</u> <u>and Learn Teacher trainings</u>, focused on mechanisms of change for social norms, and to prepare teachers to talk with students to address kick back and facilitate activities that support the curriculum in their classrooms.

Specific Aim 2 (Refinement Phase) – Refine components of the school community-level intervention

Goals. In the **Refinement Phase (Aim 2)** we showcase drafts of the social norms posters developed by the scientific team during Aim 1 (based off data in Aim 1 that generated these initial drafts) to teachers and students to refine the final messages and visuals to be delivered in the social norms poster campaign. In addition to the social norms posters which are the foundation to the community-level intervention, we also gather feedback on the other core intervention components (e.g., Teacher Lunch and Learn sessions, Teacher Workbook, and Student Intercept activities) designed to transform poster campaign messages into prevention behaviors. We will gather refinement data using n=5-10 interviews with teachers and k=3-6 focus groups with students. We will implement refinement activities in School #1 (the campaign refinement school) to avoid contamination of the teachers and students being targeted in the pilot randomized controlled trial in Aim 3 in Schools #2 and #3.

Teacher recruitment, eligibility, and informed consent. We will recruit all teachers in the school for n=5-10 interviews to further refine our initial poster messages/visuals and the other teacher components (Teacher Lunch and Learn sessions, Teacher workbook to guide classroom intercept activities). Interested teachers will speak privately with the study team to be screened for eligibility. <u>Inclusion criteria</u> includes: (1) any teacher in the school. We will include teachers regardless of what age group they teach but begin sampling with the teachers who teach 15-17 year olds. For teachers interested in participation, our team will then proceed with the <u>consent</u> process. Study staff will obtain a signed consent form (Appendix G) from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then schedule an interview time.

Teacher interview procedures. We will conduct a total of <u>n=5-10 interviews with teachers</u>, with final qualitative interview numbers dependent upon data saturation. We will begin each interview by answering questions regarding the consent form, and then obtain written consent. Then we will administer a brief socio-demographic survey to gather details on age, gender, race/ethnicity, primary language, years of teaching experience, teaching subject areas, and age of students. Each interview will last approximately 45 minutes to 1 hour. Interviews will follow a semi-structured agenda exploring the following themes: 1) perceptions of adolescent-level HIV and STI

behaviors in the school, and barriers/facilitators to engaging in protective behaviors; 2) perceptions of adolescent-level IPV behaviors in the school including attitudes and norms around gender roles, relationships, and violence with exploration specific to the target adolescents (boys aged 15-17 years); 3) exploration of school community, and broader community factors relating to HIV and IPV behaviors including social norms; 4) feedback on visual appeal, and clarity and appropriateness of content of messages on draft posters; 5) anticipated barriers/facilitators of the teacher and student intervention components including logistics regarding delivery preferences; and 6) suggestions for optimizing teacher recruitment, data collection, and retention procedures. The interview guide is appended (Appendix H). All interviews will take place in a private room in the school setting. Interviews will be recorded using a digital voice recorder (DVR). Audio files will be stored in the passwordprotected project drive. Audio files will then be translated and transcribed verbatim. A RA will compare 10% of transcripts to audio files for accuracy.

Teacher Reimbursement. At the close of the interview, we will thank participants and provide reimbursement. Each participant will be provided with reimbursement of 75 Rand.

Student recruitment, eligibility, and informed consent/assent. We will recruit male and female adolescents for <u>k=3-6 focus groups</u> to further refine our initial poster messages/visuals and the other student components (three stage student intercept activities described previously). We will recruit a convenience sample of any race of adolescents, but stratifying by gender (for separate groups) and age (trying to get a 50% mix of those 12-15, and 16-19, the split guided by average age of sex) through flyers providing contact details for study staff in the school setting and recruit in-person. All interested adolescents who are under 18 years will be sent home with written parental consent (Appendix I) and adolescent assent forms (Appendix J). Parents/legal guardians will have a chance to ask questions or discuss concerns using the contact details provided to them via study information sheet and consent form. For adolescents who return signed consent forms, study staff will assess eligibility for adolescent focus groups. Inclusion criteria include: (1) adolescent who attends the school. We will include adolescents regardless of sexual activity, HIV, or IPV status because prevention may alter the trajectory of possible engagement in new (not yet experienced) risk behaviors, or risk for those already engaged in unsafe behaviors. We are not specifically screening for intimate partnerships in our eligibility because South African data shows by age 15, approximately half engaged in penetrative sexual debut, with large portion of younger adolescents having engaged in sexual foreplay prior to 15 years.²⁷ We also include adolescents of any age range in this refinement stage (anticipating age to vary from 12-19 years) so long as they attend the school. We include any gender. The broad range of ages and genders is vital for this refinement stage because norms are set for the target group of boys 15-17 years by a wider group of peers.

Student focus group procedures. We will conduct a total of k=3-6 adolescent focus groups with final focus group numbers dependent upon data saturation. Each focus group will contain a minimum of 4, and maximum of 8 participants. We will begin each group by confirming receipt of consent forms from parents/legal guardians, and verbally go over assent procedures followed by written voluntary adolescent assent (or consent for those 18 or 19 years old). Then we will administer a brief socio-demographic survey to gather details on age, gender, race/ethnicity, primary language, family situation, and behavioral data relating to HIV and IPV to contextualize

focus group data. Each group will last approximately 1.5 hours; when combined with informed consent procedures and the demographic questionnaire, we anticipate that each participant will spend approximately 2 hours involved in the study. Two members of the study team will facilitate each group with one study team member directing the flow of discussion, and the other taking notes and prompting with additional questions as needed. Focus groups will follow a semi-structured agenda (Appendix K) exploring the following themes: 1) perceptions of adolescent-level HIV and STI behaviors in the school, and barriers/facilitators to engaging in protective behaviors; 2) perceptions of adolescent-level IPV behaviors in the school including attitudes and norms around gender roles, relationships, and violence with exploration specific to the target adolescents (boys aged 15-17 years) specifically probing for developmental age differences and gender differences based on how we stratify focus groups; 3) exploration of school community, and broader community factors relating to HIV and IPV behaviors including social norms: 4) feedback on visual appeal, and clarity and appropriateness of content of messages on draft posters; 5) anticipated barriers/facilitators of the student intervention components (student intercept activities led by both teachers using the Teacher Workbook and planned interventionist led intercept activities) including logistics regarding delivery preferences; and 6) suggestions for optimizing recruitment, data collection, and retention procedures for the boys involved in the intervention outcome surveys (e.g., boys aged 15-17 years). All focus groups will take place in a private room in the school setting. Food and refreshments will also be offered during the focus groups. Focus group discussions will be recorded using a digital voice recorder (DVR). Audio files will be stored in the password-protected project drive, translated and transcribed verbatim, with "cleaning" purging information that could identify a participant personally. A RA will compare 10% of transcripts to audio files for accuracy.

Adolescent Reimbursement. At the close of the focus group, we will thank participants and provide reimbursement. Each participant will be provided with reimbursement of 75 Rand (approximately \$7.50) comprised of 50 Rand for time and 25 Rand for travel. This reimbursement may be provided in the form of a voucher. If the focus group is under-enrolled, we still offer a reimbursement for travel of 25 Rand.

Analyses of Teacher/Student Data. We will conduct ongoing saturation analyses, based on iterative coding during data collection.⁷² Specifically, after each focus group, we will examine content to see what sort of repetitive data is emerging. Data themes that are consistently repeated will be dropped from latter focus group discussion agendas so we can spend time probing more deeply for other new and emergent data themes. Each audio recording is transcribed word-for-word and translated if necessary. Transcriptions are checked for accuracy and entered into NVivo. We will enter all observational notes as memos. We will use a grounded theory approach in conjunction with 'sensitizing concepts' to guide analyses.⁷³⁻⁷⁵ Sensitizing concepts provide a general reference point to guide interpretation of empirical data/themes while maintaining the use of inductive analysis. Combining sensitizing concepts with a grounded theory approach will allow us to use social norms theory as a starting off point for data analysis and interpretation, while also allowing for codes/themes to arise from the data that may not fit directly into social norms theory, but which contribute a comprehensive picture of adolescent boys lived experience from the perspective of a variety of genders and ages. Data analysis is iterative including techniques

of open and axial coding.⁷⁴ Dr. Mathews will double-code the transcripts, aiming for >80% agreement and discussing discrepancies. We will also discuss transcripts in regular meetings with Drs. Orchowski, Berkowitz, and Sikweyiya to analyze themes and compare interpretations. The focus of analysis is to connect themes between participants with a particular focus on the context that frames motivations and decision-making around risk and protective behaviors relating to HIV, IPV, and bystander behavior. We also want to gain understanding of common experiences between participants, and to understand the context of how social norms are developed, reinforced, and challenged effectively to prepare us for an effective social norms intervention. We will also compare data for similarities and differences based on the stratification of our groups (gender and age) to appropriately guide messaging that speaks to the developmentally specific experiences, and to feature differential gender perspectives as necessary to effectively change our target populations behavior. We will distill qualitative intervention components into thematic categories to guide refinement of the intervention for Aim 3.

Specific Aim 3 (Acceptability and Feasibility Phase) – Assess the acceptability and feasibility of the intervention School Championing Safe South Africa in a pilot randomized controlled trial.

Goals. In Acceptability and Feasibility Aim 3 our primary goal will be to assess acceptability and feasibility of the school community-level preventive intervention, *Schools Championing Safe South Africa*, among N=282 male adolescents aged 15-17 years who are the primary targets of the community-level school environment intervention. This sample will be split in a 1:1 ratio (n=141 boys in the intervention school, n=141 boys in the wait-list control school). The goal of this school community-level intervention is to prevent HIV risk, IPV perpetration, and increase bystander behavior) among boys at high risk for HIV and STI risk behaviors and IPV perpetration (e.g., male adolescents aged 15-17 years). In this aim, we will also explore preliminary evidence for hypotheses that the intervention, relative to the control, will produce the following outcomes: (1) reductions in actual or intended HIV risk behaviors; (2) reductions in IPV frequency and decreased endorsement of IPV supportive attitudes; and (3) increased proactive bystander intentions. We also survey N=80 teachers to assess whether teacher (mis)perceptions have been corrected (e.g., whether teachers perceive student attitudes and behaviors more accurately) and whether they intend to engage in more bystander intervention.

Training Intervention Facilitators for Roll-out of Intervention Activities in Aim 3. Our investigative team will train an intervention facilitator in preparation for the core intervention activities that include teacher and student interactions (Lunch and Learn Teacher Training, Classroom activities supported by the Teacher Workbook, and student intercept activities). We will <u>recruit a facilitator through our pool of experienced adolescent HIV and IPV intervention facilitators used in our previous trials including our current *Safe South Africa* trial, supplemented by advertising, community-flyers, and outreach with NGOs/CBOs, community meetings, clinics, and schools. Training will involve 5 modules. <u>Module 1</u> includes: 1) introductions and ice-breakers, 2) project overview, 3) education regarding prevention of HIV and IPV perpetration, communication, gender roles and social norms particularly in regards to sexual relationships. <u>Module 2</u> focuses on intervention delivery skills: 1) public speaking and 2) communication of sensitive topics, 3) engagement of teachers and students. <u>Module 3</u> involves training in use of the intervention posters, Lunch and Learn Teacher Training and Teacher workbook including (a) demonstrations of these intervention components, (b) education on core intervention elements, and (c) role-play. <u>Module 4</u> involves</u>

training in use of the intervention posters and the student intercept activities including (a) demonstrations of intercept activities to evaluate whether students see the poster messages; whether students believe the message; whether students/think their friends believe the message; and (b) role-play. <u>Module 5</u> involves: 1) testing implementation skills in short mock scenarios, 2) feedback from the investigative team. We incorporate challenges that may arise during implementation including inter-personal interactions to assess facilitator mastery of core skills and performance. We rank performance using the fidelity forms (explained further in Aim 3). If the facilitator is not deemed qualified, additional training will be provided.

Overview of Randomized Pilot Trial. We will recruit N=282 male adolescents who are the primary targets of the school community-level intervention. We will also recruit N=80 teachers (numbers are average estimates of 40 teachers/school), randomly selecting from a full list of teachers from the school. Data from this pilot trial will help prepare us for a future R01 full-scale efficacy trial that will take the form of a cluster randomized controlled trial where schools will be randomized to an intervention or control arm. In this trial, we will pilot in two schools (School #2 will receive the experimental intervention, and School #3 will serve as a wait-list control). The assignment to the experimental intervention will be randomly determined. For future trial feasibility, the first set of assessments will reflect the outcome questionnaire used at baseline, 1- and 6-months for N=282 boys (Appendix L); we also gather baseline outcomes from N=80 teachers (prior to Teacher Lunch and Learn sessions) and at post-intervention (end of the school year). The teacher instrument is in Appendix M. We will track recruitment and retention strategies and success rates. A second set of assessments for future trial feasibility will evaluate fidelity, ranking integrity and competency of our team's delivery of Teacher Lunch and Learn, Student Intercept activities in real time. These fidelity assessments follow recommendations issued by the Treatment Fidelity Workgroup of the NIH Behavior Change Consortium to ensure rigorous coding of fidelity based on a standardized monitoring checklist (Appendix N).⁷⁶ For <u>acceptability data</u>, we will gather intervention satisfaction forms from male adolescents (Appendix O) and teachers (Appendix P) randomized to the intervention, and gather opinions on content, clarity and appeal of materials, delivery, and format.

Sample Size and Power Considerations. The primary objective of this pilot is to test the feasibility and acceptability of the intervention and to generate meaningful effect size estimates for a future fully-powered RCT. We considered sample size needed to demonstrate increased condom use at last sex, reduced sexual violence perpetration, and increased active bystander behavioral intentions. To measure significant change in the three objectives, a total of N=282 adolescent boys will be enrolled, with n=141 in the intervention arm and the same number (n=141) in the control arm. The power calculations are based on a McNemar's test for paired proportions, 80% power, and type 1 error rate (alpha) of 5%. These calculations were generated by findings of the R34 testing Safe South Africa (R34MH113484), which included 80 male adolescents aged 15-17 years (**1**. Akande, M., Kuo, C., Orchowski, L., Berkowitz, A., Harrison, A., Abrahams, N., Mathews, C. (2019). Leveraging Positive Social Norms for Preventing Sexual Violence among South African Adolescents. Oral presentation for the American Public Health Association Conference, November 2-6, 2019; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA. **2**. Akande, M., Orchowski, L., Harrison, A., Berkowitz, A., Kuo, C., Mathews, C. (2020). Prevention of HIV Risk and Intimate

Partner Violence among Adolescents in South Africa. Submitted abstract on January 30, 2020 for poster presentation for the International Women's and Children's Health and Gender Group Conference. 3. Akande, M., Orchowski, L., Harrison, A., Abrahams, N., Berkowitz, A., Kuo, C., Mathews, C. (Under review). Examining perceptions of peer norms relating to sexual violence among adolescents in South Africa. Submitted November 2020 to Journal of Interpersonal Violence). Condom use: We assume that in the Schools Championing Safe South Africa pilot trial, 88% of male adolescent participants will have ever had sex at baseline, and 63% of those will report at baseline that they used a condom at last sex. The sample size required to detect changes between baseline and 6-months in condom use ranging from 3% to 17% at six months at 80% power and a type 1 error rate of 5%. To detect changes of 15% or greater in condom use at last sex between baseline and 6 months in the intervention arm, assuming 0.20 correlation between paired observations, 135 adolescent boys are required in the intervention arm. To account for a 3% dropout rate (observed in the Safe South Africa study), a total of 141 per arm will be enrolled. Sexual violence perpetration: We assume that at baseline, 56% of male adolescent participants will have perpetrated sexual violence in the past 6 months. To detect changes 16% or greater in sexual violence perpetration of sexual violence between baseline and 6 months in the intervention arm, assuming a 0.20 correlation between paired observations, a total of 125 adolescent boys are required in the intervention arm. The planned sample size of 141 per arm will account for greater than 3% dropout rate. Active bystander behavior: We assume at baseline, 60% of male adolescent participants will have intentions to engage in active bystander behavior. To detect changes 15% or greater in active bystander intentions between baseline and 6 months in the intervention arm, assuming 0.20 correlation between paired observations, 125 adolescent boys are required in the intervention arm. (See details of calculations in section below: Statistical Design and Power.)

Recruitment. We will recruit N=282 male adolescents using similar procedures as Aim 1. Inclusion criteria include: (1) male adolescent that attends Schools #2 or #3; and (2) 15-17 years of age inclusive. We will include adolescents regardless of sexual activity, HIV, or IPV status. Male adolescents are excluded if parents do not provide informed consent or adolescents do not provide informed assent. These adolescents will complete outcomes assessment, and the n=141 male adolescents (N represents estimates, with final N determined based on final buy-in of school sites) to complete outcome assessments at baseline and post-intervention, and intervention satisfaction assessments, (similar to the boys, n=40 teachers will complete intervention satisfaction assessments if assigned to the intervention). Inclusion criterion includes: (1) any teacher in the school.

Consent and Assent. For N=282 adolescent boys, consent and assent will occur at the first point of contact, after screening for eligibility and prior to gathering baseline assessment. Consent and assent will cover all outcome assessments at baseline, 1- and 6-months as well as satisfaction assessment for the intervention group. The parental consent and student consent/assent form are attached (Appendix Q and R). The assent process will involve an enrollment session which includes a method of obtaining meaningful informed participation by discussing pros and cons of trial participation, detailed at the NIH Randomized Behavioral Clinical Trials Institute

(attended by M-PI Kuo);⁷⁷ this method serves to optimize recruitment and offers a platform for thoroughly discussing ethical considerations. For N=80 teachers interested in participating in outcome and satisfaction assessments, our team will then proceed with the <u>consent</u> process using the consent form attached (Appendix S). Study staff will obtain written consent from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and sign.

Reimbursement. In the pilot trial, N=282 adolescents (baseline, 1-, 6-months) and N=80 teachers (baseline, post-intervention) will receive 75 Rand at each time point. N=141 boys and n=40 teachers in the intervention group will receive 50 Rand for the satisfaction assessments.

Assessments. Outcome assessments evaluate changes at 1- and 6-months post-intervention, relative to control for these primary outcomes: Do male adolescents report a higher prevalence of condom use at last sex (for those who have debuted) or anticipated risk behaviors (for those who have not debuted) relating to HIV and STI risk acquisition or transmission?; Do male adolescents report fewer experiences of sexual violence perpetration or attempts to perpetrate sexual violence?; and Do male adolescents report increased intentions for active by-stander intervention? All measures utilized in the current study are well established, and tested in our prior studies including the complementary *Safe South Africa* trial. We collect self-reported outcome assessments using audio-computer assisted self-interviewing software which limits social desirability bias.⁷⁸ See **Table 2**.

Table 2: Outcome Measures and Satisfact	ion Assessment							
Outcome	Measures	Baseline	After In- tervention	1-month	6-month			
	Teachers and Adolescent Boys							
Acceptability	Client Satisfaction Questionnaire ⁷⁹		✓					
	Teachers							
Teacher intervention for negative adoles- cent sexual and IPV behaviors	✓	~						
Active Bystander Behaviors	Miller Likelihood to Intervene, Miller Positive and Negative By- stander Behavior ⁸²	✓	~					
Sexual aggression norms relating to HIV transmission and IPV; endorsement rape myths, traditional gender roles; social norms regarding sex and violence; norms around HIV transmission including condom attitudes, HIV stigma	ssion and IPV; endorsement rape raditional gender roles; social norms g sex and violence; norms around smission including condom attitudes,							
	Adolescent Boys							
HIV Risk Behavior & Intentions: HIV and STI status; HIV testing; frequency sex; number and type of partners; use of condoms	Items taken from South African trials & NIH's Adoles- cent Medicine Trials Network for HIV/AIDS Interventions	√		~	~			
IPV Perpetration Behaviors : type, fre- quency and severity of IPV; sexual perpetra- tion and aggression, dating violence	Sexual Experiences Survey Short Form Perpetration ⁸⁶	✓		~	~			
Bystander Intervention Behaviors: proac- tive bystander behavior; bystander efficacy and readiness								

Co-variates: socio-demographics; eco- nomic status; household characteristics	 Items from the South African 2011 Census Questionnaire & World Health Organization Food Security Questionnaire ⁹¹ Verbal Autopsy for AIDS orphanhood⁹² 	~	~	~
 Mechanisms & Moderators: Norms relating to HIV transmission including condom attitudes, HIV stigma; HIV knowledge; self-efficacy, and skills Resilience; mental health; substance use Sexual aggression norms relating to both HIV transmission and IPV; endorsement rape myths, traditional gender roles; social norms regarding sex and violence 	 South African HIV Knowledge⁹³; AIDS Related Stigma Scale and Internalized AIDS-Related Stigma Scale^{94,95}; Condom Attitudes Scale - Adolescents⁹⁶; Condom Use Self-Efficacy Scale⁹⁷; Condom-use skills checklist⁹⁸ Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale⁹⁹; Center for Epidemio- logic Studies Scale^{100,101}; Alcohol Use Disorders Identifica- tion Test¹⁰²; Drug Use Disorders Identification Test¹⁰³ Illinois Rape Myth Acceptance Scale⁸³; Boeringer's Social Norms Measure⁸⁴; Gender Equitable Mens Scale⁸⁵ 	*	~	✓

All administration systems (paper forms scanned to digitized data) and data software come with rigorous human Subjects' protections and worked well in our previous collaborative USA-South African trials.

Analysis and Further Intervention Refinement. We will check all forms for missing data in field and during entry, with at least 2 telephone calls to participants to collect missing data. We will examine key variables for skewness, variability, missing data, and outliers, with transformations to achieve normality if needed. For our acceptability data (satisfaction assessments), we will set 80% reporting positive ratings as a marker of acceptability and examining process data on satisfaction with format, length, etc. For our fidelity data, we will assess fidelity of facilitator implementation, setting 80% as acceptable fidelity, and using data to make final adjustments to training. For our feasibility data, we will also evaluate feasibility in regards to recruitment ease, and retention during outcome timepoints. For trial outcomes, preliminary analyses will include studies of patterns of missing data, dropout rates, and correlations effect size estimates with small samples have large standard errors so we use pilot data to assess hypothesized intervention effects.¹⁰⁴ We will examine key variables for skewness, variability, missing data, and outliers, with transformations to achieve normality if needed. We will examine descriptive statistics for main outcomes and mediators with extreme scores or deviations from normality to be addressed in subsequent analyses. Baseline differences between groups on demographic variables will be examined using t-tests or the Chi-square test, where appropriate, and variables that show differences will be included as covariates in outcome analyses. McNemars test, for paired binary variables, will be used to determine whether the follow-up measurements significantly differ from baseline measurements in the intervention and control arm, separately. Generalized linear mixed (random effects) models, will be used to compare intervention and control group, via treatment by time interaction terms, following intention-to-treat principles. In exploratory analysis, we will look at directions of hypothesized effects. While we are underpowered to test mediation effects directly, we will explore differences between study arms. Effect sizes observed will be used to inform a larger adequately powered RCT. We also examine exposure to other interventions to see how this may be affecting outcomes.

Rigor, Reproducibility, and Transparency

To ensure research rigor and reproducibility of *Schools Championing Safe South Africa*, this pilot study is a careful and rigorous progression to prepare for a future cluster randomized controlled trial. The design of this pilot study is focused on development of a school community-level intervention that is distinct but complementary to the existing line of intervention research on the individual behavior-level intervention *Safe South Africa* described above. If both lines of intervention research show promise, they will be brought together into an existing combination intervention approach that comprehensively tackles multiple levels of socio-ecological risk for boys

at risk for HIV and IPV perpetration. This school-based intervention is potentially sustainable. The choice to deliver a preventive intervention targeting the school as the community-level environment is purposive, perfectly aligned with South Africa's recent commitment to integrating health services into school settings and outlined in their national Integrated School Health Policy.⁶⁶ Our team has a strong reputation in the community, and a tried and true process of gaining buy-in prior to the study, delivering updates during the course of the study that provide opportunity for course correction in study rigor, and in providing prompt dissemination that offer opportunities to hear feedback that is directly relevant to developing future phases of research in a manner that prior-itizes the needs of the target population and stakeholders.

Inclusion of Individuals Across the Lifespan

For Aims 1 and 2, components that are not the pilot randomized clinical trial, eligibility is as follows. Aims 1 and 2 - School survey with students & Aim 2 qualitative focus groups with students, inclusion criteria includes: (1) adolescents attending the high school. Aims 1 and 2 - School survey with teachers & Aim 2 qualitative interviews with teachers, inclusion criteria includes: (1) any teacher in the school. For these Aims, students and teachers will be included regardless of biological sex, gender identity, and race and ethnicity. Based on average school age in South Africa for high school students, we anticipate that students will range from 12 to 19 years of age. Based on the required retirement age for government employees, which includes teachers, we anticipate that the range of age for teachers will range from 18 to 65 years of age. We select public high schools in high HIV prevalence communities. Although participants will NOT be excluded based on racial or ethnic group, we do expect that school sites with high HIV prevalence are likely have a mix of black African and Afrikaans teachers and adolescents in our study, and reflecting the historical consequences of Apartheid in which geographical segregation of racial and ethnic groups in South Africa continues to occur. We select from public health high schools in the highest HIV risk communities in Western Cape Province. Reflecting the most recent HIV epidemiological data from South Africa, we expect that these communities will be primarily black African, isiXhosa populations or Afrikaans populations.¹⁰⁵

For Aim 3, the pilot randomized clinical trial, eligibility is as follows: (1) male adolescent; and (2) 15-17 years of age inclusive. For the randomized pilot trial component that focuses on adolescents, the target population for evaluation of outcomes will be adolescent boys 15-17 years of age who are a disproportionate age and gendered risk for HIV, STIs, and perpetrating IPV. As such, exclusion of girls is scientifically justified because of the genderdisparities in IPV perpetration with males much more likely to perpetrate violence globally¹⁰⁶ and in South Africa specifically.³⁻⁵ The inclusion of children is necessary to achieve the scientific objectives of the study. We recognize that children may be a vulnerable group, and extreme care is required to ensure protection and empowerment amongst participants but that exclusion of this group would significantly prohibit scientific development in topic areas of great importance to the health and wellbeing of this group. To ensure informed consent and assent, we will clarify what information will be kept confidential and what will be disclosed to another party. We also build upon our team's extensive research and clinical experience working with adolescents living with HIV in South Africa as well as our team's experience conducting HIV behavioral research with vulnerable populations affected by HIV in South Africa and other international settings. We provide additional protections in consent and assent procedures. All informed assent forms will be read aloud in participants' chosen language and participants will also be provided copies. To ensure that children do not feel obliged to participate in the research, emphasis will be placed on their ability to refuse to participate, or to cease participation at any point during the research. As has been the practice in our previous studies with this vulnerable population, our research team is trained to recognize that any avoidance by children of the research will be taken as evidence of failure to assent. For adolescents, we emphasize that all information shared with us will remain confidential except for life-threatening disclosures or disclosures regarding age-differential partners, exploitative sex, perpetration with identifiable rape victims, being a victim of rape, sexual abuse or physical abuse which falls under legally mandated reporting to police, social services, and IRB.

The clinical trial portion of the study will also include teachers. Inclusion criteria is as follows: (1) any teacher in the school. For this Aim 3, teachers will be included regardless of biological sex, gender identity, and race and ethnicity.

Recruitment and retention plan

Aim 1: Cross-Sectional Survey

In the **Development Phase (Aim 1)** teachers and student will participate in a cross-sectional survey to evaluate community-level social ecology of HIV and IPV risk. The primary goal of this survey data is to create evidence-based social norms messages to include in the poster campaign tailored to address specific social-ecological risk and protective factors for HIV and IPV.

We conduct school surveys in all three schools to better understand the social ecology of the school community. We aim for 75% coverage of all teachers and students in these schools (school size varies, but we estimate this will be N=1500 students and N=80 teachers across three schools). For the teacher survey, we will **recruit all teachers** in the school. Interested teachers will speak privately with the study team to be screened for eligibility. Inclusion criteria includes: (1) any teacher in the school. We will include teachers regardless of what age group they teach but begin sampling with the teachers who teach 15-17 year olds. For teachers interested in participation, our team will then proceed with the <u>consent</u> process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then complete the survey. **Retention of teachers** for follow-up does not apply for this one-time cross-sectional survey.

For the student survey, we will **recruit a convenience sample of student peers (all ages, genders, races)** attending our chosen intervention school by visiting classrooms, briefly explaining the purpose of the anonymous

survey. Then we will follow the subsequent consent and assent process, which we have given careful consideration based on our own research of the most appropriate consent procedures for low-risk research with adolescents in school settings.⁷¹ Our team will visit classrooms to describe the survey to students, explaining parents/legal guardians need to indicate in writing whether they do not want their child to participate. We will provide parents/legal guardians a letter about the nature of the research seeking their permission for their child's participation, and provide a period of 1-2 weeks to return the form with our teams contact details to answer questions and concerns. Then we revisit high school classes 1-2 weeks later. For adolescents with consent forms, we will verify eligibility for adolescent surveys. Inclusion criteria include: (1) adolescents attending the high school. We include adolescents attending the school regardless of gender and age (anticipating a range of 12-19 years) to get a full assessment of social ecology (rather than just focusing on the target group of the intervention, males aged 15-17 years). Interested and eligible adolescents go through assent procedures of if 18 years and older, consent procedures. Adolescents under 18 years of age are excluded if parental consent and adolescent assent are not obtained. Then we provide a brief school social ecology climate survey assessing: (1) IPV and HIV behavior data (students only); (2) predicted prevalence of IPV and sexual behaviors in their school; (3) norms and attitudes around sex, HIV, gender, and IPV. Retention of students for follow-up does not apply for this onetime cross-sectional survey.

Aim 2: Qualitative Interview and Focus Groups

In the **Refinement Phase (Aim 2)** we showcase drafts of the social norms posters developed by the scientific team during Aim 1 to teachers and students to refine the final messages and visuals to be delivered in the social norms poster campaign. In addition to the social norms posters – which are the foundation to the community-level intervention – we also gather feedback on the other core intervention components (e.g., Teacher Lunch and Learn sessions, Teacher Workbook, and Student Intercept activities) designed to transform poster campaign messages into prevention behaviors. We will gather refinement data using n=5-10 interviews with teachers and k=3-6 focus groups with students. We will implement refinement activities in School #1 (the campaign refinement school) so as not to contaminate the population of teachers and students being targeted in the pilot randomized controlled trial in Aim 3 in Schools #2 and #3. We will use FileMaker Software to pre-program school allocation to the three options (School#1, 2 or 3) using a computerized randomization procedure. This computerized program eliminates any investigator bias in assignment of schools to various conditions.

We will **recruit all teachers in the school for** <u>n=5-10 interviews</u> to further refine our initial poster messages/visuals and the other teacher components (Teacher Lunch and Learn sessions, Teacher workbook to guide classroom intercept activities). Interested teachers will speak privately with the study team to be screened for eligibility. <u>Inclusion criteria</u> includes: (1) any teacher in the school. We will include teachers regardless of what age group they teach but begin sampling with the teachers who teach 15-17 year olds. For teachers interested in participation, our team will then proceed with the <u>consent</u> process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then schedule an interview time. **Retention of teachers** for follow-up does not apply for these one-time qualitative interviews. We will **recruit male and female adolescents for** <u>k=3-6 focus groups</u> to further refine our initial poster messages/visuals and the other student components (three stage student intercept activities described previously). Participant recruitment will follow procedures used previously in our research on best ethical procedures with adolescents in South Africa.¹⁰⁷ We will recruit a convenience sample of any gender, age, and race of adolescents through flyers providing contact details for study staff in the school setting and recruit in-person with permission of the school principal and teachers. All interested adolescents will be sent home with written parental consent and adolescent assent forms. Parents/legal guardians will have a chance to ask questions or discuss concerns using the contact details provided to them via study information sheet and consent form. For adolescents who return signed consent forms, study staff will assess <u>eligibility for adolescent focus groups</u>. <u>Inclusion criteria</u> include: (1) adolescent who attends the school. **Retention of students** for follow-up does not apply for these onetime qualitative interviews.

Aim 3: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial

In the Acceptability and Feasibility Aim 3 our primary goal will be to assess acceptability and feasibility of the school community-level preventive intervention, *Schools Championing Safe South Africa*, among N=282 <u>male adolescents aged 15-17 years who are the primary targets</u> of the community-level school environment intervention. This sample will be split in a 1:1 ratio (n=141 boys in the intervention school, n=141 boys in the wait-list control school). The goal of this school community-level intervention is to prevent HIV risk, IPV perpetration, and increase bystander behavior) among boys at high risk for HIV and STI risk behaviors and IPV perpetration (e.g., male adolescents aged 15-17 years). In this aim, we will also explore preliminary evidence for hypotheses that the intervention, relative to the control, will produce the following outcomes: (1) reductions in actual or intended HIV risk behaviors; (2) reductions in IPV frequency and decreased endorsement of IPV supportive attitudes; and (3) increased proactive bystander intentions. As a secondary aim, we also survey N=80 teachers to assess whether teacher (mis)perceptions have been corrected (e.g., whether teachers perceive student attitudes and behaviors more accurately) and whether they intend to engage in more bystander intervention.

We will **recruit N=282 male adolescents** who meet study inclusion criteria and who are the primary target group for HIV risk and IPV perpetration prevention for the *Schools Championing Safe South Africa* intervention. <u>Inclusion criteria</u> include: (1) male adolescent that attends Schools #2 or #3; and (2) 15-17 years of age inclusive. We will include adolescents regardless of sexual activity, HIV, or IPV status. Male adolescents are excluded if parents do not provide informed consent or adolescents do not provide informed assent. These adolescents will complete outcomes assessment, and the n=141 male adolescents assigned to the intervention school will complete satisfaction assessments. For N=282 adolescent boys, consent and assent will occur at the first point of contact, after screening for eligibility and prior to gathering baseline assessment. Consent and assent will cover all outcome assessments at baseline, 1- and 6-months as well as satisfaction assessment for the intervention group. The assent process will involve an enrollment session which includes a method of obtaining meaningful informed participation by discussing pros and cons of trial participation, detailed at the NIH Randomized Behavioral Clinical Trials Institute (attended by M-PI Kuo);⁷⁷ this method serves to optimize recruitment and offers a platform for thoroughly discussing ethical considerations prior to randomization, intervention, and assessments.

We will also **recruit N=80 teachers** (N represents estimates, with final N determined based on final buy-in of school sites for School #2 and #3) to complete outcome assessments at baseline and post-intervention, and intervention satisfaction assessments, (similar to the boys, n=40 teachers will complete intervention satisfaction assessments only if they were assigned to the intervention school). <u>Inclusion criterion</u> includes: (1) any teacher in the school. For N=80 teachers interested in participating in outcome and satisfaction assessments, our team will then proceed with the <u>consent</u> process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and sign.

To **retain participants**, our team will gather robust details for tracking and tracing 1) at baseline, documenting multiple participant contact details and three individuals who know how to contact the family; 2) monthly contact via telephone or text; 3) follow up at least five times using different days, times, and methods. These strategies were successful in maintaining 100% retention at 1-month and 99% retention at 6-months in Dr. Kuo and Mathews' recent acceptability and feasibility trial with adolescents of the same age and setting for the parallel *Safe South Africa* trial.

Study timeline

Table 3. Study Timeline	Year 1			Year 2				Year 3				
3 month quarters	1 2 3 4		1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8			8	8 9 10 11			12		
Development Phase (Aim 1)	T	1	1	T		1	1					
Translation and programming of school survey measures	✓											
Training of survey study team	✓											
Survey of school social ecology with students in the school community	~	~										
Survey of school social ecology with teachers in the school com-	✓	~										
Analysis to draft poster campaign content and visuals		\checkmark	\checkmark									
Refinement Phase (Aim 2)	T	1		r		r	1					
Draft poster campaign content and finalize other intervention components			✓	✓	✓							
Translation of qualitative protocols					~							
Training of qualitative interviewers and focus group facilitators					~							
Focus group discussions with students						~	~					
Qualitative interviews with teachers						~	~					
Qualitative analysis to finalize intervention							~	✓				
Refine poster campaign content and finalize other intervention components								~				
Acceptability and Feasibility Phase – Pilot RCT (Aim 3)												
Interventionist training and supervision							~	✓	~			
Pilot RCT recruitment, eligibility screening, consent/assent, and baseline for boys and teachers						~	~	~	<			
1-month follow-up for boys								~	✓			
6-month follow-ups for boys; teacher follow-up									✓	~	✓	
Analysis of feasibility and acceptability data; analysis of outcome, mediation and moderation analysis											~	
Manuscripts and Future Study Preparation												
Preparation of manuscripts					~	~	~	~	~	~	~	✓
Preparation of follow-up grant applications											~	~

Ethical Considerations related to the protection of human subjects

This research meets the definition of a clinical trial. This is not a Phase III clinical trial. We will seek IRB approval for all study procedures.

Risks to Human Subjects

a. Human Subjects Involvement, Characteristics, and Design

Human Subject Involvement. Human subject involvement is needed to accomplish Specific Aims 1-3 and includes the following procedures:

<u>Aim 1: Cross-Sectional Survey:</u> In the **Development Phase (Aim 1) N=80 teachers** and **N=1500 students** will participate in a cross-sectional survey to evaluate community-level social ecology of HIV and IPV risk. The primary goal of this survey data is to create evidence-based social norms messages to include in the poster campaign tailored to address specific social-ecological risk and protective factors for HIV and IPV.

<u>Aim 2: Qualitative Interview and Focus Groups:</u> In the Refinement Phase (Aim 2) we showcase drafts of the social norms posters developed by the scientific team during Aim 1 to teachers and students to refine the final messages and visuals to be delivered in the social norms poster campaign. In addition to the social norms posters – which are the foundation to the community-level intervention – we also gather feedback on the other core intervention components (e.g., Teacher Lunch and Learn sessions, Teacher Workbook, and Student Intercept activities) designed to transform poster campaign messages into prevention behaviors. We will gather refinement data using n=5-10 interviews with teachers and k=3-6 focus groups with students (size of focus groups will range from n=4-8 participants per group). We will implement refinement activities in School #1 (the campaign refinement school) so as not to contaminate the population of teachers and students being targeted in the pilot randomized controlled trial in Aim 3 in Schools #2 and #3.

Aim 3: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial: In the Acceptability and Feasibility Aim 3 our primary goal will be to assess acceptability and feasibility of the school community-level preventive intervention, *Schools Championing Safe South Africa*, among N=282 male adolescents aged 15-17 years who are the primary targets of the community-level school environment intervention. This sample will be split in a 1:1 ratio (n=141 boys in the intervention school, n=141 boys in the wait-list control school). The goal of this school community-level intervention is to prevent HIV risk, IPV perpetration, and increase bystander behavior) among boys at high risk for HIV and STI risk behaviors and IPV perpetration (e.g., male adolescents aged 15-17 years). In this aim, we will also explore preliminary evidence for hypotheses that the intervention, relative to the control, will produce the following outcomes: (1) reductions in actual or intended HIV risk behaviors; (2) reductions in IPV frequency and decreased endorsement of IPV supportive attitudes; and (3) increased proactive bystander intentions. Outcomes will be collected at baseline, 1- and 6- months. As a secondary aim, we also survey N=80 teachers to

assess whether teacher (mis)perceptions have been corrected (e.g., whether teachers perceive student attitudes and behaviors more accurately) and whether they intend to engage in more bystander intervention. Teacher surveys will be collected as baseline (prior to the Teacher Lunch and Learn Sessions) and at followup (end of the school year).

Characteristics. We anticipate the following characteristics for study subjects in terms of age and number (see **Table 4**).

	-	
	Adolescents	Total Participants*
Aim 1	Any gender adolescents, ages 12-19	1500
Aim 1	Any gender teachers, ages 18-65	120
Aim 2	Any gender adolescents, ages 12-19*	48
Aim 2	Any gender teachers, ages 18-65*	10
Aim 3	Male adolescents, ages 15-17	282
Aim 3	Any gender teachers, ages 18-65	80

Table 4: Anticipated Subject Numbers* and Age

* maximum enrollment targets have been included, final sample sizes will be based on saturation analyses

Collaborating Sites. All primary data collection occurs in South Africa, based out of the South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) via a contractual arrangement with Brown University. Dr. Mathews, M-PI is based at SAMRC. Data will be obtained, managed, and protected through a data agreement between Brown University and SAMRC. M-PI's Drs. Kuo and Mathews will oversee all standard operating procedures including study protocols including ethics; quality control and assurance; and data collection, management, and analyses procedures. In regards to data collection, our trained South African team will collect all data. For school site selection, we build on our team's extensive experience conducting school-based interventions, adolescent HIV and IPV interventions, and prevention research in South Africa. We work off our established network of 40 school research sites in Western Cape Province of South Africa, focusing on high schools in high HIV risk communities. We select schools in high HIV prevalence communities in Western Cape where we have previously worked with success in our school-based intervention trials with this age group.^{29,67-69} In each of these schools, we have established relationships with school stakeholders including principals and other educators. These relationships allow us to run our HIV-IPV prevention program on school premises.

b. Study Procedures, Materials, and Potential Risks

Research Material and Data Obtained from Human Subjects. The following primary data will be obtained from subjects for Aims 1-3. Data will be collected in isiXhosa or English, depending on participant preference. When data is collected in isiXhosa, data will be transcribed and translated.

<u>Aim 1</u> will generate data from a cross-sectional survey from N=1500 adolescents and N=120 teachers to evaluate school climate. From students, this survey will focus on: (1) IPV and HIV behavior data (students

only); (2) predicted prevalence of IPV and sexual behaviors in their school; (3) norms and attitudes around sex, HIV, gender, and IPV. From teachers, this survey will focus on: (1) predicted prevalence of adolescents' IPV and sexual behaviors in their school; (3) norms and attitudes of teachers around adolescent's sex, HIV, gender, and IPV.

Aim 2 will generate qualitative data from k=3-6 focus groups (n=4-8 people per group) with adolescents. Focus groups will follow a semi-structured agenda exploring the following themes: 1) perceptions of adolescent-level HIV and STI behaviors in the school, and barriers/facilitators to engaging in protective behaviors; 2) perceptions of adolescent-level IPV behaviors in the school including attitudes and norms around gender roles, relationships, and violence with exploration specific to the target adolescents (boys aged 15-17 years); 3) exploration of school community, and broader community factors relating to HIV and IPV behaviors including social norms; 4) feedback on visual appeal, and clarity and appropriateness of content of messages on draft posters; 5) anticipated barriers/facilitators of the student intervention components (student intercept activities led by both teachers using the Teacher Workbook and planned interventionist led intercept activities) including logistics regarding delivery preferences; and 6) suggestions for optimizing recruitment, data collection, and retention procedures for the boys involved in the intervention outcome surveys (e.g., boys aged 15-17 years). All focus groups will take place in a private room in the school or community setting. Food and refreshments will also be offered during the focus groups. Focus group discussions will be recorded using a digital voice recorder (DVR). Audio files will be stored in the password-protected project drive. Audio files will then be translated and transcribed verbatim by a transcriptionist. After transcription, the study team will edit out any information that might be used to identify a participant personally. A bilingual RA will compare 10% of transcripts to audio files for accuracy.

<u>Aim 2</u> will also generate qualitative data from n=5-10 interviews with teachers. Interviews will follow a semistructured agenda exploring the following themes: 1) perceptions of adolescent-level HIV and STI behaviors in the school, and barriers/facilitators to engaging in protective behaviors; 2) perceptions of adolescent-level IPV behaviors in the school including attitudes and norms around gender roles, relationships, and violence with exploration specific to the target adolescents (boys aged 15-17 years); 3) exploration of school community, and broader community factors relating to HIV and IPV behaviors including social norms; 4) feedback on visual appeal, and clarity and appropriateness of content of messages on draft posters; 5) anticipated barriers/facilitators of the teacher and student intervention components including logistics regarding delivery preferences; and 6) suggestions for optimizing teacher recruitment, data collection, and retention procedures. All interviews will take place in a private room in the school setting. Interviews will be recorded using a digital voice recorder (DVR). Audio files will be stored in the password-protected project drive. Audio files will then be translated and transcribed verbatim by a transcriptionist. After transcription, the study team will edit out any information that might be used to identify a participant personally. A bilingual RA will compare 10% of transcripts to audio files for accuracy.

Aim 3 will generate data from a RCT pilot with n=282 male adolescents aged 15-17 years. Data emerges from several sources. We conduct a set of assessments to evaluate acceptability using paper forms with automated scanning to turn into computerized data using our TeleForm Software. These include are session satisfaction and intervention program satisfaction forms. These satisfaction forms gather opinions on content, material, delivery, format, length, time, and location. We conduct a second set of assessments to evaluate feasibility. For this feasibility data we track recruitment, retention, and attrition data using FileMaker Software to inform future studies. This will include gathering characteristics on who is eligible (from baseline data) but does not attend the enrollment session; data on who fills out baseline, post-, and 3 month assessments; as well as who attends scheduled intervention sessions. We also conduct exit questionnaires for early exiters and full completers probing for 1) intervention drop out/facilitators including logistical, job or family related barriers, 2) perceived burden of intervention and assessment, 3) satisfaction with interactions with the research team in scheduling, etc. For early exiters who we are unable to identify at intervention sessions, we will attempt to get these early exit assessments at the time of exit, then we will complete these by phone. We conduct a third set of assessments for our exploratory secondary aim, evaluating outcomes whether the intervention, relative to the control, will produce: (1) reductions in HIV risk behaviors including unprotected sex and frequency of sexual intercourse; (2) reductions in IPV frequency and decreased endorsement of IPV supportive attitudes; and (3) increased proactive bystander intentions. As a secondary aim, we also survey N=80 teachers to assess whether teacher (mis)perceptions have been corrected (e.g., whether teachers perceive student attitudes and behaviors more accurately) and whether they intend to engage in more bystander intervention. For these assessments we use an outcome questionnaire at baseline, 1- and 6-months. As a secondary aim, we also survey N=80 teachers to assess whether teacher (mis)perceptions have been corrected (e.g., whether teachers perceive student attitudes and behaviors more accurately) and whether they intend to engage in more bystander intervention.

Access to Individually Identifiable Information & Data Collection, Management, and Protections.

Only PIs, co-Is and other essential project staff will have access to project data. All data will be protected by unique research identification numbers (RINs). Identifiable data will be kept separate from documents containing other participant data. Paper documents relating to participant data will be kept in locked cabinets accessible only to essential study personnel. Data will also be backed up by the data enterer and transferred via two-way encryption via the nCrypted Cloud program for PIs and Co-I to oversee for quality control. Participants' names will never appear in any report resulting from the project. Electronic data, including digital voice recordings will have several protections. First, all data will be stored on password-protected computers and smartphones. Second, all files on project computers will be further protected by nCrypted Cloud software which offers two-way encryption with secure access controlled by PIs (who can turn on and off access to password protected files from a central location) and wipe all data from devices remotely in the case of staff leaving the project or in the unlikely event of theft of devices. NCrypted Cloud also enables the PIs to control who has access, who can move files from the secureal and encrypted cloud server onto local hard-drives (including computers, phones, and external hard-drives), and whether and how files can be moved between computers,

thus providing absolute control over data management and monitoring. Third, all staff will be trained in procedures for maintaining confidentiality of participant information. Data analyses will only focus on data associated with RIN. All other identifiers will be expunged from transcripts. Any names or pseudonyms used during focus groups will be replaced with the RIN. In order to ensure data quality, we will implement several quality procedures. These include the following procedures: 1) transferring of digital files to computers checking of DVR recordings within 48 hours; 2) after transcriptions, a check of transcripts for accuracy and to facilitate cleaning of transcripts.

Potential Risks to Subjects.

This research includes sensitive topics. Thus, there are some risks due to participation in our study. Concerns include risk of retribution against perpetrators disclosing in these studies. The risk of retribution against boys disclosing perpetration is guarded against by using self-completion for disclosure of acts that are socially stigmatizing or involve violence. The other concern is psychological distress; those who have raped or perpetrated sexual assault can find discussing it makes them realise that it was wrong. For consent and assent procedures, we will spend significant time discussing what topics will be covered, particularly highlighting what questions will explore including HIV-status, perpetration behaviors. We will emphasize that adolescents can halt participation at any time without consequence. We will also emphasize that although study staff will protect confidentiality of participants, this is not guaranteed in group settings. We also highlight the legal norms that would require break in confidentiality, and who information would be reported to as laid out by South African law. We balance these legal norms from South Africa on protecting the best interests of the child. For some data, we collect it anonymously (as in the school climate survey in Aim 1), participants will be guaranteed that the information will be kept confidential with no reporting given the anonymized data. In other cases of data for our other Aims, we follow the limits to confidentiality detailed above. Although our study protocol does not specifically probe for identifiable victims of perpetration, we recognize that there is the small chance adolescents will disclose this, unprompted by our team and requiring reporting. In anticipation of any possibility of serious adverse events, we will work with Dr. Mathews and Dr. Kuo's affiliations with University of Cape Town's Department of Psychiatry to refer adolescents to appropriate HIV support, mental health, and social support services, via Groote Schuur and associated partner hospital and clinic services within South Africa's free public health service system. At the start of the study, we will establish a relationship with key officials in the Department of Social Development to ensure the appropriate referrals are made for at-risk adolescents and their families, and to facilitate the process of mandatory reporting of cases of child abuse. In addition, we will engage the services of a psychologist and social worker to ensure an effective referral system and mandatory reporting procedure. Furthermore, all adolescents (regardless of eligibility) will receive a list of resources of HIV, IPV, general health, and social services. We specifically promote access to information about Childline (for adults Lifeline), Stop GBV helpline, HIV helpline, FAMSA and the South African Depression and Anxiety Group (SADAG) helpline and dissemination of phone numbers to anyone who wants further support. In our weekly team meetings, we explicitly probe for any unanticipated ethical situations which do not need immediate emergency attention. All

ethical emergencies requiring urgent attention are reported to the PIs immediately. All procedures will be reviewed by institutional IRBs.

Participants will potentially be exposed to the risk of COVID-19 during the focus group discussions. To mitigate this risk, we will conduct such discussions in a large, well-ventilated classroom with all the windows open during the FGD. Each participant and facilitator will be supplied with a medical mask to use for the duration of the FGD. Sanitizer will be provided and upon arrival, they will be requested to sanitize their hands. Chairs for the participants and facilitators will be placed at least two meters apart, and participants will be requested not to move closer to other participants or the facilitators. At the end of the FGD, participants will be asked to leave the classroom one by one, in an orderly fashion, maintaining a distance of two meters between them.

Loss of Privacy or Confidentiality.

There is a small risk of loss of privacy or confidentiality of data, including sensitive data on HIV status, sexual behaviors, depending on what participants choose to disclose, particularly in the group discussion. We take this risk seriously, and we will take steps to protect participants' identities. As outlined in the previous section, we will ensure that all personal identifiers are removed from the data and any publications arising from the study. We will make clear prior to the start of the focus group discussion that we cannot guarantee the absolute confidentiality of participant statements made in the group setting, and we will encourage them to use aliases when referring to third parties in the group discussion. The informed consent and assent documents will high-light confidentiality risks. We will inform both adolescents and parent/legal guardians during the informed consent and assent process that we will not share information about anything disclosed in focus groups unless in a case of self or other harm and legally mandated reporting requirements.

Psychological Discomfort during Data Collection.

Participants may experience embarrassment or distress while providing data on HIV, IPV, and sexual behavior. For those who have raped or assaulted someone, they can find discussing the topic or responding to survey questions about it makes them realise that it was wrong. However, the scientific team has extensive experience in interviewing participants, including adolescents around these topics and rarely have participants reacted to these types of questions with more than temporary embarrassment or mild discomfort in group discussion because they can decide what to discuss. The scientific team will train and supervise the RAs in these procedures and techniques to gather data sensitively. If any such moments of sensitivity occur during the study, the M-PIs will be available for consultation. Further, if participants experience emotional discomfort, they will be given the option of taking a break or rescheduling the focus group discussion or other data collection for another date and time. Further, any distress will be minimized by assurances that participants can refuse to answer any particular question they do not feel comfortable addressing and withdraw from the study at any time without penalty.

Alternative Treatments.

Alternative treatments are not a consideration in this study given no existing rigorously tested HIV-IPV perpetration preventive interventions exist for adolescents in South Africa. This is not a treatment study but has a prevention focus. For any unexpected adverse event, we will follow reporting requirements as mandated by legal requirements in South Africa and link to appropriate support via South Africa's free public health service system. In our weekly team meetings, we explicitly probe for any unanticipated ethical situations which do not need immediate emergency attention. All ethical emergencies requiring urgent attention are reported to the M-PIs immediately. All procedures will be reviewed by IRBs.

Adequacy of Protection Against Risks

a. Informed Consent and Assent

For Aim 1 with adolescents, our team will visit classrooms to describe the survey to students, explaining parents/legal guardians need to indicate in writing whether they do not want their child to participate. For potential participants under 18 years of age, we will provide parents/legal guardians a letter about the nature of the research seeking their permission for their child's participation, and provide a period of 1-2 weeks to return the form with our teams contact details to answer questions and concerns. Then we revisit high school classes 1-2 weeks later. For adolescents with consent forms, we will verify eligibility for adolescent surveys. For Aim 1 for teachers interested in participation, our team will screen for eligibility and then proceed with the consent process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then complete the survey.

For Aim 2 with teachers interested in participation, our team will then proceed with the consent process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then schedule an interview time. For Aim 2 with adolescents, we will recruit a convenience sample of any gender, age, and race of adolescents through flyers providing contact details for study staff in the school setting and recruit in-person with permission of the school principal and teachers. All interested adolescents under 18 years of age will be sent home with written parental consent and adolescent assent forms. Parents/legal guardians will have a chance to ask questions or discuss concerns using the contact details provided to them via study information sheet and consent form. For adolescents who return signed consent forms, study staff will assess eligibility for adolescent focus groups.

For Aim 3 with adolescents, we recruit a convenience sample of male adolescents 15-17 years through flyers providing contact details for study staff in the school setting and recruit in-person with permission of school principals and teachers. Interested adolescents will speak privately with the study team to be screened for eligibility and then commence the parental/legal guardian consent process. All interested adolescents are sent home with written parental/legal guardian consent and adolescent assent forms We will provide parents/legal guardians a letter about the nature of the research seeking their permission for their child's participation, and

provide a period of 1-2 weeks to return the form with our teams contact details to answer questions and concerns. Then we revisit high school classes 1-2 weeks later. For adolescents with consent forms, a participant locator form will be filled out to help schedule the intervention. Adolescents have been given an assent form at the initial point of contact but go through assent procedures prior to the intervention to give additional time to consider assent. We begin enrollment into the trial by confirming receipt of consent forms from parents/legal guardians, and verbally go over assent procedures followed by written assent. Parents/legal guardians and adolescents will provide consent and assent for baseline data collection, and then again for intervention enrollment, randomization, intervention procedures (if randomized to the intervention arm) and follow-up outcome assessments at 1- and 6-months post intervention; intervention participants will also provide consent/assent for satisfaction assessments. For Aim 3 for teachers interested in participation, our team will screen for eligibility and then proceed with the consent process. Study staff will provide a signed written informed consent form from each teacher who is eligible and interested in participating for them to review and then complete the survey.

b. Protections against Risk

Planned Procedures for Protecting Against or Minimizing Potential Risks. For adolescents, during assent procedures, and for parents/legal guardians in the consent form, we highlight the legal norms that would require break in confidentiality, and who information would be reported to. For adolescents in focus groups, we will minimize loss of privacy by limiting access to individually identifiable information using unique RINs on all paper, electronic data, and analyses; we also emphasize limits of confidentiality in a group discussion. Electronic data, including digital voice recordings and digitally scanned paper data will have several protections for both teacher and student participants. First, all data will be stored on password-protected computers including smartphones and files. Second, all files on project computers and android smartphones will be further protected by nCrypted Cloud software which offers two-way encryption with secure access controlled by PIs (who can turn on and off access to password protected files from a central location) and wipe all data from devices remotely in the case of theft. NCrypted Cloud also enables the PIs to control who has access, who can move files from the secured and encrypted cloud serve onto local hard drives (including computers, smartphones, and external harddrives), and whether and how files can be moved between providing absolute control over data management and monitoring. Third, all staff will be trained in procedures for maintaining confidentiality of participant information. We are also prepared to address any distress that may arise by referring to South African's mental health care within their free public health systems. All serious adverse events will be reported to IRB and NIH. Overall internal monitoring of the safety of human subjects will be conducted by the M-PIs. For non-emergency issues, a weekly meeting will be held to address study progress, recruitment and retention, data collection, and other factors related to human subjects and meetings will be held more often if necessary.

c. Vulnerable Subjects Protections

Additional Protections for Children. We put into place additional protections for children. We recognize that children may be a vulnerable group, and extreme care is required to ensure protection and empowerment amongst participants, but that exclusion of this group would significantly prohibit scientific development in topic areas of great importance to the health and wellbeing of this group. To ensure informed consent and assent, we will clarify what information will be kept confidential and what will be disclosed to another party. We also build upon our team's extensive research and clinical experience working with adolescents living with HIV in South Africa as well as our team's experience conducting HIV behavioral research with vulnerable populations affected by HIV in South Africa and other international settings. We provide additional protections in consent and assent procedures. All informed assent forms will be read aloud in participants' chosen language and participants will also be provided copies. To ensure that children do not feel obliged to participate in the research, emphasis will be placed on their ability to refuse to participate, or to cease participation at any point during the research. As has been the practice in our previous studies with this vulnerable population, our research team is trained to recognize that any avoidance by children of the research will be taken as evidence of failure to assent. For adolescents, during the parental/legal guardian informed consent procedures and during the adolescent informed assent procedures, we emphasize that all information shared with us will remain confidential except for life-threatening disclosures or disclosures regarding age-differential partners, exploitative sex, perpetration with identifiable rape victims, being a victim of rape, sexual abuse or physical abuse which falls under legally mandated reporting to police, social services, and IRB.

Adverse Events. If an unanticipated Problem or a Serious Adverse Event occurs at the study site and is more likely than not related to the research activity, and places participants or others at a greater risk of harm than was previously known or recognized, the M-PIs will report the event in writing using the appropriate forms to IRB. The M-PIs will also report Serious Adverse Events in writing to the sponsor. The M-PIs will review the Adverse Event report with the entire study team and gather any information needed to investigate the event and to determine subsequent action. The M-PIs will document and report any subsequent action to IRBs. We will also generate a brief report of Adverse Events for the study record each year, and we will forward the report to Brown University IRB, South African Medical Research Council IRB and NIH.

Potential Benefits of the Proposed Research to Human Subject and Others

There may be little or no direct benefit to participants from the study. Some possible benefits may include informing HIV and IPV prevention science. Adolescent participants will be given information on HIV, IPV, general health, and social services and referrals if necessary. The risks associated with this research are reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits of advancing empirical knowledge adolescent prevention approaches for this high priority population and setting.

Importance of Knowledge to be gained

To our knowledge, this will be the first intervention to prevent adolescent HIV risk and IPV perpetration in an integrated manner and in a high impact setting (South Africa) using a school community-level approach.

Data and Safety Monitoring Plan:

The study population warrants the development of a Data Safety and Monitoring Plan including a Data and Safety Monitoring Board. To address the NIH policy for Data and Safety Monitoring, the M-PIs (Drs. Caroline Kuo and Catherine Mathews), along with the co-Investigator, will be responsible for monitoring (Dr. Lindsay Orchowski). The team has developed a system for oversight of the proposed study and its participants. The Data and Safety Monitoring Plan focuses on protecting participants in the involvement in all three aims with primary data collection activities which occur in South Africa.

Potential risks to subjects are as follows. This research includes a number of sensitive topics. Thus there are some risks due to participation in our study. Concerns include risk of retribution against perpetrators disclosing in these studies. The risk of retribution against boys disclosing perpetration is guarded against by using selfcompletion for disclosure of acts that are socially stigmatizing or involve violence. The other concern is psychological distress; those who have raped or perpetration sexual assault can find discussing it makes them realise that it was wrong. For consent and assent procedures, we will spend significant time discussing what topics will be covered, particularly highlighting what questions will explore including HIV-status, perpetration behaviors. We will emphasize that all participants (teachers and adolescents, but especially adolescents) can halt participation at any time without consequence. We will also emphasize that although study staff will protect confidentiality of participants, this is not guaranteed in group settings such as the focus groups occurring with adolescents in Aim 2. We also highlight the legal norms that would require break in confidentiality, and who information would be reported to as laid out by South African law (abuse, neglect, victim of assault or rape, specific cases of sex in within certain age ranges). For some data, we collect it anonymously (as in the survey in Aim 1), participants will be guaranteed that the information will be kept confidential with no reporting given the anonymized data. In other cases of data for our other Aims, we follow the limits to confidentiality detailing limits to confidentiality in detail. Although our study protocol does not specifically probe for identifiable victims of perpetration, we recognize that there is the small chance adolescents will disclose this, unprompted by our team and requiring reporting. In anticipation of any possibility of serious adverse events, we will work with Dr. Mathews and Dr. Kuo's affiliations with University of Cape Town's Department of Psychiatry to refer adolescents to appropriate HIV support, mental health, and social support services, via Groote Schuur and associated partner hospital and clinic services within South Africa's free public health service system. Furthermore, all adolescents (regardless of eligibility) will receive a list of resources of HIV, IPV, general health, and social services. We specifically promote access to information about Childline (for adults Lifeline), Stop GBV helpline, HIV helpline, FAMSA and the South African Depression and Anxiety Group (SADAG) helpline and dissemination of phone numbers to anyone who wants further support.

We have several procedures in place to protect and minimize risks. For adolescents, during assent procedures, and for parents/legal guardians in consent documentation, we highlight the legal norms that would require

break in confidentiality, and who information would be reported to. For both adolescents in focus groups, we will minimize loss of privacy by limiting access to individually identifiable information using unique RINs on all paper, electronic data, and analyses. Electronic data, including digital voice recordings and data collected via paper and then scanned digitally, will have several protections. First, all data will be stored on password-protected computers. Second, all files on project computers will be further protected by nCrypted Cloud software which offers two-way encryption with secure access controlled by PIs (who can turn on and off access to password protected files from a central location) and wipe all data from devices remotely in the case of theft. NCrypted Cloud also enables the PIs to control who has access, who can move files from the secured and encrypted cloud serve onto local hard drives (including computers, and external harddrives), and whether and how files can be moved between providing absolute control over data management and monitoring. Third, all staff will be trained in procedures for maintaining confidentiality of participant information. We are also prepared to address any distress that may arise by referring to South African's mental health care within their free public health systems. All serious adverse events will be reported to IRB and NIH. Overall internal monitoring of the safety of human subjects will be conducted by the M-PIs. For non-emergency issues, a weekly meeting will be held to address study progress, recruitment and retention, data collection, and other factors related to human subjects and meetings will be held more often if necessary. We put into place additional protections for children. We recognize that children may be a vulnerable group, and extreme care is required to ensure protection and empowerment amongst participants but that exclusion of this group would significantly prohibit scientific development in topic areas of great importance to the health and wellbeing of this group. To ensure informed consent and assent, we will clarify what information will be kept confidential and what will be disclosed to another party. We also build upon our team's extensive research and clinical experience working with adolescents living with HIV in South Africa as well as our team's experience conducting HIV behavioral research with vulnerable populations affected by HIV in South Africa and other international settings. We provide additional protections in consent and assent procedures. All informed assent forms will be read aloud in participants' chosen language and participants will also be provided copies. To ensure that children do not feel obliged to participate in the research, emphasis will be placed on their ability to refuse to participate, or to cease participation at any point during the research. As has been the practice in our previous studies with this vulnerable population, our research team is trained to recognize that any avoidance by children of the research will be taken as evidence of failure to assent. For adolescents, during the parental informed consent procedures and during the adolescent informed assent procedures, we emphasize that all information shared with us will remain confidential except for life-threatening disclosures or disclosures regarding age-differential partners, exploitative sex, perpetration with identifiable rape victims, being a victim of rape, sexual abuse or physical abuse which falls under legally mandated reporting to police, social services, and IRB.

The Data and Safety Monitoring Plan for this application will begin by implementing standard procedures for day-to-day monitoring of the study. Also, we hold weekly meetings with the research team will be conducted to evaluate the progress of the trial and to review data quality, recruitment, study retention, and examine other factors that may affect safety. Participant experiences with the study procedures and the rates of adverse

events will also be reviewed to determine any changes in participant risk. The PI will report any adverse events (AEs) that are observed to the local site's IRB (South African Medical Research Council, Brown University, and to NIH. Serious adverse events (SAEs) will be reported to the local site's IRB by written report within 48 hours of our receipt of information regarding the event; SAEs will also be reported in writing to NIH. Actions taken by the IRB in response to SAEs will also be reported to NIH, as will reports of changes or amendments to the protocol as a result of an SAE. Reports of changes or amendments to the protocol in general must be requested first in writing to the IRB, which then will grant or deny permission to make the requested change or amendment in protocol. Modifications to study aims or design, if applicable as a response to SAEs, will also be submitted to NIH. Finally, if significant medical or mental health risks occur during the study period brought to the attention of the study team will be tracked as AEs; if significant medical or mental health risks occur during the study period that have a reasonable possibility of being related to the study will be referred for evaluation by the emergency department to determine whether hospitalization or urgent care is needed. In the event that a research participant either withdraws from the study or the investigator decides to discontinue a research participant due to SAE, the research participant will be monitored by the investigator via ongoing status assessment until either a resolution is reached (i.e. the problem requiring hospitalization has resolved or stabilized with no further changes expected or the SAE is determined to be clearly unrelated to the study intervention). Outcome of all SAEs will be periodically reported to NIH. A summary of the SAEs that occurred during the previous year will be included in the annual progress report to NIH.

Data and Safety Monitoring Board:

A Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) will be created when the project is selected for funding and has proceeded into the preparatory phase for Aim 3 (the randomized pilot trial). The DSMB shall determine safe and effective trial conduct and recommend termination of a trial if significant risks develop or the trial is unlikely to be concluded successfully. Specifically, the DSMB shall be responsible for the following:

1. Reviewing the research protocols and planning for data and safety monitoring.

2. Evaluating the progress of the trial during each phase during active enrollment and treatment. The DSMB will conduct assessments of participant recruitment, accrual and retention, data quality and intervention fidelity, and other factors that may affect study outcomes. They will also review all study adverse events (AEs) and serious adverse events (SAEs). Monitoring may also consider factors external to the study when interpreting the data, such as scientific or therapeutic developments that may have an impact on the safety of the participants or ethical issues related to the study.

3. Maintaining confidentiality during all phases of the trials.

4. Generating a report that will be provided to the investigators, IRBs (as needed), and NIH.

Membership. The DSMB will consist of three members including an expert in behavioral interventions, an expert in HIV and/or violence, and an expert in adolescents. None of the DSMB members will be on the study team. No member of the DSMB will have direct involvement in the conduct of the study. Furthermore, no member will have financial, proprietary, professional, or other interests that may affect impartial, independent decision-making by the DSMB. All DSMB members will sign a Conflict of Interest certification to that effect at the time they are asked to participate. At the beginning of every DSMB meeting, the investigative team will confirm that no conflict of interest exists for DSMB members and will again ask them to sign a Conflict of Interest certification. Meetings will be held by conference calls twice a year (every 6 months). The study team will help to develop the agenda in consultation with the DSMB. Procedures and protocols for notifying the IRBs and NIH Program Official concerning serious adverse events will be discussed at the first meeting.

Board Process. The first meeting will involve a discussion of the project, any modifications, and to establish guidelines to monitor the project. The DSMB members and the PIs will prepare the agenda to address reviews of the study, modification of the study design, initiation of the project, reporting of accrual, reporting of adverse events, stopping rules, preliminary analysis plan, etc. Meetings will be held twice a year.

Meeting Format. The format for DSMB meetings will be an open (with PIs) followed by closed session (if needed) where the PIs will be informed of recommendations made by the DSMB. The open sessions will include the PIs and study staff. Issues discussed at open sessions will include conduct and progress of the study,

including accrual, compliance with study design, and problems encountered. Only aggregate data, without any treatment arm comparisons, will be presented in the open session. The closed session will include only DSMB members. The DSMB may request others to attend part or all of the closed session, if needed. The discussion at the closed session is completely confidential. If there are differences among DSMB members regarding major study recommendations such as early termination, a vote of the DSMB will be required.

Reports from the DSMB. The meeting minutes containing the DSMB meeting summary and recommendations for continuation, modifications, or termination of the study is used as the meeting report. The draft meeting report will be reviewed and approved by the DSMB Chairperson. The final meeting report will be forwarded to DSMB members and the PIs. It will be the responsibility of the investigators to distribute the meeting report to all clinical sites, and to assure that copies are submitted to all the IRBs associated with the study (if needed).

Confidentiality. All materials, discussions and proceedings of the DSMB are completely confidential. Members and other participants in DSMB meetings are expected to maintain confidentiality.

Statistical design and power

Sample Size and Power Considerations.

The primary objective of this pilot is to test the feasibility and acceptability of the intervention and to generate meaningful effect size estimates for a future fully-powered RCT. We considered sample size needed to demonstrate increased condom use at last sex, reduced sexual violence perpetration, and increased active bystander behavioral intentions. To measure significant change in the three objectives, a total of N=282 adolescent boys will be enrolled, with n=141 in the intervention arm and the same number (n=141) in the control arm. The power calculations described below are based on a McNemar's test for paired proportions, 80% power, and type 1 error rate (alpha) of 5%. These calculations were generated by findings of the R34 testing Safe South Africa (R34MH113484-01), which included 80 male adolescents aged 15-17 years. Condom use: We assume that in the Schools Championing Safe South Africa pilot trial, 88% of male adolescent participants will have ever had sex at baseline, and 63% of those will report at baseline that they used a condom at last sex. Table 5 shows the sample size required to detect changes between baseline and 6-months in condom use ranging from 3% to 17% at six months at 80% power and a type 1 error rate of 5%. For example, Table 5 shows a sample size in excess of 1000 (N=1138) is required to detect changes in condom usage that are less than 5 percent. To detect larger differences, for example 10% or greater, a maximum sample size of 276 participants is required. To detect changes of 15% or greater in condom use at last sex between baseline and 6 months in the intervention arm, assuming 0.20 correlation between paired observations, 135 adolescent boys are required in the intervention arm. To account for a 3% dropout rate (observed in the Safe South Africa study), a total of 141 per arm will be enrolled. Sexual violence perpetration: We assume that at baseline, 56% of male adolescent participants will have perpetrated sexual violence in the past 6 months. To detect changes 16% or greater in sexual violence perpetration of sexual violence between baseline and 6 months in the intervention arm, assuming a 0.20 correlation between paired observations, a total of 125 adolescent boys are required in the intervention arm (Table 5). The planned sample size of 141 per arm will account for greater than 3% dropout rate. Active bystander behavior: We assume at baseline, 60% of male adolescent participants will have intentions to engage in active bystander behavior. To detect changes 15% or greater in active bystander intentions between baseline and 6 months in the intervention arm, assuming 0.20 correlation between paired observations, a total of 125 adolescent boys are required in the intervention arm (Table 5).

Table 5: Sample Size Estimates								
	Baseline proportion	6-month proportion	Change	Sample size				
Sexual Violence Perpetration	0.56	0.38	-0.18	99				
	0.56	0.4	-0.16	125				
	0.56	0.42	-0.14	163				
	0.56	0.44	-0.12	221				
	0.56	0.46	-0.1	317				
	0.56	0.48	-0.08	493				
	0.56	0.5	-0.06	872				

Table 5: Sample Size Estimates

	0.56	0.52	-0.04	1953
	0.6	0.66	0.06	816
	0.6	0.67	0.07	597
	0.6	0.68	0.08	455
	0.6	0.69	0.09	358
	0.6	0.7	0.1	289
	0.6	0.71	0.11	238
	0.6	0.72	0.12	199
	0.6	0.73	0.13	169
	0.6	0.74	0.14	145
	0.6	0.75	0.15	125
	0.6	0.76	0.16	110
<u>ب</u>	0.6	0.77	0.17	97
Bystander Activity	0.6	0.78	0.18	86
Bystan Activity	0.6	0.79	0.19	77
Ac By	0.6	0.8	0.2	69
	0.63	0.66	0.03	3198
	0.63	0.67	0.04	1789
	0.63	0.68	0.05	1138
	0.63	0.69	0.06	786
	0.63	0.7	0.07	574
	0.63	0.71	0.08	437
Condom usage	0.63	0.72	0.09	343
	0.63	0.73	0.1	276
	0.63	0.74	0.11	227
	0.63	0.75	0.12	190
	0.63	0.76	0.13	161
	0.63	0.77	0.14	138
	0.63	0.78	0.15	119
	0.63	0.79	0.16	104
Ŭ	0.63	0.8	0.17	92

Management approach

Management approach, staff and scientific collaboration

This study will occur at two sites, the USA in Rhode Island where Dr. Kuo and Dr. Orchowski are based, and in South Africa were Dr. Mathews is based. All primary data collection occurs in South Africa.

Dr. Kuo will have oversight all activities including the subcontracts. At Brown University, she will oversee all data programming, protocol preparation, data receipt from South Africa, data cleaning, and data analysis. Dr. Mathews will have oversight over the South African Medical Research Council subcontract activities, in close collaboration with Dr. Kuo. This includes all primary data collection activities, institutional collaboration for IRB, transfer of data to the USA for cleaning and processing, and translation. Together, Drs. Kuo and Mathews will ensure adequate systems, training of the study team, enforcement of protocols, working with their experienced institutional financial and grants management teams, to ensure that grant activities are in compliance with US laws, and DHHS and NIH policies, including biosafety, the protection of Human Subjects, data and facilities, as well as parallel applicable laws and policies in South Africa. In the case of unanticipated serious adverse events, and with the permission of children and parents, we will refer to services by tapping into the extensive social service and clinical networks that we have worked with for adolescent health in South Africa including both Drs. Kuo and Mathew's respective affiliation with the Medical School at University of Cape Town. Project progress will be summarized weekly in order coordinate scientific, fiscal and administrative management of the project, setting priorities for allocation of resources and funds.

Our multidisciplinary team consists of highly qualified, accomplished personnel with extensive complementary experience in adolescent preventive interventions for HIV and IPV in South Africa and globally. Our investigative team has multiple projects in South Africa on adolescent HIV and IPV. Dr. Caroline Kuo (M-PI) will manage the overall grant and contribute social and behavioral expertise in adolescent HIV prevention and in mixedmethods formative intervention development research that will yield appropriately tailored interventions for adolescents. She has 5 ongoing studies in Cape Town as an investigator (NIH grants: R34 MH 113484, R01 NIMH 114843, R21 NICHD 089825, H70TI080569-01, D43 TW011308). Dr. Kuo directly collaborates with Dr. Cathy Mathews on 2 of these studies (R34 MH 113484, R01 NIMH 114843), and Dr. Orchowski on 1 study (R34 MH 113484); this R34 is the Safe South Africa intervention that complements this proposal. Dr. Cathy Mathews (M-PI) will manage the SAMRC sub-contract, including overseeing reporting, financial management, procurement of equipment and supplies and management of field activities. is a public health scientist with expertise in adolescent interventions for HIV and IPV, and specializing in school-based interventions. Her research is specifically focused on testing interventions for scale-up in school and health systems with an emphasis on informing national policies related to adolescent sexual and reproductive health in South Africa. Dr. Lindsay Orchowski (co-I) will bring her substantial expertise in the violence preventive Safe intervention being used as a foundation in the study. She has served as PI of two large-scale, CDC-funded evaluations of sexual assault prevention programming for high school and middle school boys; each of which included a social norms marketing campaign within the school (with Dr. Alan Berkowitz). She has also served as PI of an NIAAA R34

grant designed to evaluate the *Safe* program for men in the military, and has published extensively on sexual assault prevention. <u>Dr. Alan Berkowitz (consultant)</u> is an expert in social norms theory, bystander intervention, and engaging men in sexual assault prevention. He has conducted work in South Africa, Australia, Canada, Europe, and the USA. A collaborator on the design of the *Men's Workshop* (which forms the basis of the *Safe* program), he has worked with Dr. Orchowski in three evaluations of the model. He will contribute social norms expertise to the intervention development research. <u>Dr. Yandisa Sikweyiya (consultant)</u> is an expert in violence risk reduction and prevention in South Africa as well as gender norms and relationships. He brings significant content expertise in IPV and interpersonal violence research within South Africa with a specific focus on understanding men, masculinities, and HIV in relation to gender-based violence. He will contribute to the intervention development and the evaluation instruments. <u>Dr. Kuo, Mathews, and Orchowski</u> recently collaborated on an edited volume on sexual violence published by Elsevier entitled, "Sexual Assault Risk Reduction and Resistance: Theory, Research, and Practice."

Multiple principal investigators (PIs)

We propose a multiple PI leadership plan that involves sharing responsibility by two M-PIs, Dr. Caroline Kuo (Brown University) and Dr. Catherine Mathews (South African Medical Research Council). This scientific collaboration is stronger than a study conducted by either the USA-based or South African-based team alone. We are able to consolidate expertise with South African adolescents at risk for HIV and IPV. This collaboration also illustrates our philosophy of multidisciplinary and equitable international research partnerships. Dr. Kuo contributes significant expertise in behavioral and social risk. She also brings expertise in mixed-methods for intervention development and adaptation of empirically supported programs to the South African context as well as international data systems and mobile data collection in South African community contexts. Her experience will facilitate tracking and tracing of adolescents for collection of data in the community setting, and high quality data collection from adolescents on sensitive topics. Dr. Mathews contributes significant experience in schoolbased interventions including interventions that focus on the endpoint of adolescent health including adolescent HIV, sexual and reproductive health, and IPV. She brings vast expertise in intervention trial design, implementation, analyses, and dissemination for maximum health systems and policy impact.

Dr. Kuo will have oversight of Brown University activities including the subcontract to the University of Cape and submission of reports to NIH. This includes annual research performance progress reports, reporting for NIMH's recruitment milestones system, clinical trials registry reporting, and Brown University reporting. Dr. Mathews will have oversight over the South African Medical Research Council subcontract activities, in close collaboration with Dr. Kuo. Dr. Mathews will oversee coordination of stakeholder meetings in South Africa, as well as seeking permission to work with the South African Department of Education. Dr. Mathews will oversee the day to day management of the South African team, given the time difference between countries. However, Dr. Kuo will coordinate all weekly team meetings. Together, Dr. Kuo and Dr. Mathews will oversee project progress summarized weekly in order coordinate scientific, fiscal and administrative management of the project, setting priorities for allocation of resources and funds; Dr. Kuo will focus on summarizing the activities occurring on the USA side (reporting, data systems, data analysis) and Dr. Mathews will focus on summarizing the activities occurring on the South African side (field-based primary data collection). Together, Drs. Kuo and Mathews will ensure adequate systems, working with their experienced institutional financial and grants management teams, to ensure that grant activities are in compliance with US laws, and DHHS and NIH policies, including biosafety, the protection of Human Subjects, data and facilities, as well as parallel applicable laws and policies in South Africa. In the case of unanticipated serious adverse events, and with the permission of children and parents, we will refer to services by tapping into the extensive social service and clinical networks that we have worked with for adolescent health in South Africa including both Drs. Kuo and Mathew's respective affiliation with the Medical School at University of Cape Town with Dr. Mathews taking specific charge of the immediate response needed given the time difference.

Authorship for peer-reviewed manuscripts, book-chapters, scientific conference presentations, policy and clinical briefs, and dissemination briefs resulting from project activities will be determined prior to creating drafts for these outputs. Authorship will be negotiated based on the relative scientific contributions of the PIs, Co-I, consultant, and key personnel, following international guidelines set by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE). All decisions regarding the technical aspects of the project will be decided jointly in weekly Skype meetings by the M-PIs and Co-Is. In the unlikely case of conflicting opinions regarding the technical approach of the study, the M-PIs, Drs. Kuo and Mathews will consult with co-I and consultants (Drs. Orchowski, Sikweyiya, and Berkowitz).

References

1. UNAIDS. Global AIDS Response: Country Progress Report 2012, Republic of South Africa. Pretoria: Republic of South Africa; 2012.

2. Shisana O, Rehle T, LC S, et al. South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence and Behaviour Survey, 2017. Cape Town: HSRC Press; 2019.

3. Jewkes R, Sikweyiya Y, Dunkle K, Morrell R. Relationship between single and multiple perpetrator rape perpetration in South Africa: A comparison of risk factors in a population-based sample. BMC Public Health 2015;15:1-10.

4. Jewkes R, Sikweyiya Y, Morrell R, Dunkle K. Gender Inequitable Masculinity and Sexual Entitlement in Rape Perpetration South Africa: Findings of a Cross-Sectional Study. PLoS ONE 2011;6:e29590.

5. Jewkes R, Dunkle K, Koss M, et al. Rape perpetration by young, rural South African men: Prevalence, patterns and risk factors. Social Science & Medicine 2006;63:2949-61.

6. Russell M, Cupp P, Jewkes R, et al. Intimate Partner Violence Among Adolescents in Cape Town, South Africa. Prevention Science 2014;15:283-95.

7. Mason-Jones A, De Koker P, Eggers S, et al. Intimate partner violence in early adolescence: The role of gender, socioeconomic factors and the school. S Afr Med J 2016;106:60.

8. City Health HIV, AIDS, STI and TB Plan 2012/2013. Cape Town: City of Cape Town Government; 2013.

9. Kuo C, Mathews C, LoVette A, et al. Perpetration of sexual aggression among adolescents in South Africa. Journal of Adolescence 2019;72:32-6.

10. Righi M, Orchowski L, Kuo C. Integrated Intimate Partner Violence and Human Immunodeficiency Virus Interventions in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review Targeting or Including Adolescents. Violence and Gender 2019;6:92-104.

11. Kinsman SB, Romer D, Furstenberg FF, Schwarz DF. Early sexual initiation: the role of peer norms. Pediatrics 1998;102:1185-92.

12. Perkins HW, Craig DW, Perkins JM. Using social norms to reduce bullying: A research intervention among adolescents in five middle schools. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations 2011.

13. Bennett S, Banyard VL, Garnhart L. To Act or Not to Act, That Is the Question? Barriers and Facilitators of Bystander Intervention. Journal of interpersonal violence 2014;29:476-96.

14. Berkowitz AD. The social norms approach: Theory, research and annotated bibliography. Higher Education Center for Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse and Violence Prevention US Department of Education 2004.

15. Berkowitz AD. An overview of the social norms approach. Changing the culture of college drinking: A socially situated health communication campaign 2005:193-214.

16. Dunkle K, Jewkes R, Brown H, Gray G, McIntryre J, Harlow S. Gender-based violence, relationship power, and risk of HIV infection in women attending antenatal clinics in South Africa. The Lancet 2004;363:1415-21.

17. Frye V, Latka MH, Wu Y, et al. Intimate partner violence perpetration against main female partners among HIV-positive male injection drug users. Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes (1999) 2007;46 Suppl 2:S101-9.

18. Fox AM, Jackson SS, Hansen NB, Gasa N, Crewe M, Sikkema KJ. In their own voices: a qualitative study of women's risk for intimate partner violence and HIV in South Africa. Violence against women 2007;13:583-602.

19. Sa Z, Larsen U. Gender inequality increases women's risk of hiv infection in Moshi, Tanzania. Journal of biosocial science 2008;40:505-25.

20. Kouyoumdjian FG, Leto D, John S, Henein H, Bondy S. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of chlamydia, gonorrhoea and syphilis in incarcerated persons. International Journal of STD & AIDS 2012;23:248-54.

21. Seth P, DiClemente RJ, Lovvorn AE. State of the evidence: intimate partner violence and HIV/STI risk among adolescents. Current HIV research 2013;11:528-35.

22. Li Y, Marshall CM, Rees HC, Nunez A, Ezeanolue EE, Ehiri JE. Intimate partner violence and HIV infection among women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of the International AIDS Society 2014;17:18845.

23. UNAIDS. The GAP Report. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS; 2014.

24. Gevers A, Mathews C, Cupp P, Russell M, Jewkes R. Illegal yet developmentally normative: a descriptive analysis of young, urban adolescents' dating and sexual behaviour in Cape Town, South Africa. BMC international health and human rights 2013;13:31.

25. Devries K, Mak J, García-Moreno C, et al. The Global Prevalence of Intimate Partner Violence Against Women. Science 2013;340:1527-8.

26. Abrahams N, Devries K, Watts C, et al. Worldwide prevalence of non-partner sexual violence: a systematic review. Lancet (London, England) 2014;383:1648-54.

27. Richter L, Mabaso M, Ramjith J, Norris SA. Early sexual debut: voluntary or coerced? Evidence from longitudinal data in South Africa - the Birth to Twenty Plus study. SAMJ: South African Medical Journal 2015;105:304-7.

28. Kalichman SC, Simbayi LC, Cloete A, et al. Integrated gender-based violence and HIV Risk reduction intervention for South African men: results of a quasi-experimental field trial. Prevention science : the official journal of the Society for Prevention Research 2009;10:260-9.

29. Mathews C, Eggers SM, Townsend L, et al. Effects of PREPARE, a Multi-component, School-Based HIV and Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) Prevention Programme on Adolescent Sexual Risk Behaviour and IPV: Cluster Randomised Controlled Trial. AIDS and behavior 2016.

30. Kim JC, Watts CH, Hargreaves JR, et al. Understanding the Impact of a Microfinance-Based Intervention on Women's Empowerment and the Reduction of Intimate Partner Violence in South Africa. American Journal of Public Health 2007;97:1794-802.

31. Jewkes R, Nduna M, Levin J, et al. Impact of stepping stones on incidence of HIV and HSV-2 and sexual behaviour in rural South Africa: cluster randomized controlled trial. British Medical Journal2008:a506. 32. Paluck EL. What's in a norm? Sources and processes of norm change. 2009.

33. DeJong W, Schneider SK, Towvim LG, et al. A multisite randomized trial of social norms marketing campaigns to reduce college student drinking. Journal of studies on alcohol 2006;67:868-79.

34. Taylor BG, Stein ND, Mumford EA, Woods D. Shifting Boundaries: an experimental evaluation of a dating violence prevention program in middle schools. Prevention science : the official journal of the Society for Prevention Research 2013;14:64-76.

35. Perkins JM, Krezanoski P, Takada S, et al. Social norms, misperceptions, and mosquito net use: a population-based, cross-sectional study in rural Uganda. Malaria journal 2019;18:189.

36. Berkowitz AD. Applications of social norms theory to other health and social justice issues. The social norms approach to preventing school and college age substance abuse: A handbook for educators, counselors, and clinicians 2003:259-79.

37. Berkowitz AD. Fostering healthy norms to prevent violence and abuse: The social norms approach. The Prevention of Sexual Violence: A Practitioner's Sourcebook, Holyoke MA: NEARI Press <u>http://alanberkowitz</u> com/articles/Preventing% 20Sexual% 20Violence 2010;20.

38. Haines MP. Social norms a wellness model for health promotion in higher education. Wellness Management 1998;14:1.

39. Lapinski MK, Rimal RN. An Explication of Social Norms. Communication Theory 2005;15:127-47.

40. Friedlander L, Connolly J, Pepler D, Craig W. Biological, Familial, and Peer Influences on Dating in Early Adolescence. Archives of sexual behavior 2007;36:821-30.

41. Flood M, Fergus L, Heenan M. Respectful relationships education: Violence prevention and respectful relationships education in Victorian secondary schools. Melbourne: Department of Education and Early Childhood Development 2009.

42. Jacobson KC, Crockett LJ. Parental monitoring and adolescent adjustment: An ecological perspective. Journal of research on adolescence 2000;10:65-97.

43. Duncan GJ, Boisjoly J, Harris KM. Sibling, Peer, Neighbor, and Schoolmate Correlations as Indicators of the Importance of Context for Adolescent Development. Demography 2001;38:437-47.

Harris JR. The nurture assumption : why children turn out the way they do. Free Press: New York; 1998.
Rowe DC. The limits of family influence: Genes, experience, and behavior: Guilford Press; 1994.

46. Gidycz CA, Orchowski LM, Berkowitz AD. Preventing sexual aggression among college men: An evaluation of a social norms and bystander intervention program. Violence Against Women 2011;17:720-42.

47. Gidycz CA, Orchowski LM, Berkowitz A. An evaluation of a social norms and bystander intervention to prevent sexual aggression among college men. in press.

48. Orchowski LM BA, Boggis J, Oesterle D. . Bystander Intervention Among College Men: The Role of Alcohol and Correlates of Sexual Aggression. Journal of Interpersonal Violence 2015.

49. Orchowski LM, Barnett NP, Borsari B, Wood M, Zlotnick C, Oesterle D. Development of an integrated sexual assault and alcohol intervention for high risk college men. International Family Violence and Child Victimization Research Conference; 2014; Portsmouth, NH.

50. Orchowski LM, Andoscia G, Oesterle D, Burrows G, Jacobs S, Zhao S. Integrated alcohol and sexual assault prevention for college men: post-session ratings from an open trial. 2nd Annual Mind-Brain Research Day at Brown University; 2015; Providence, RI.

51. Orchowski LM, Barnett NP, Borsari B, Wood M, Zlotnick C, Oesterle D. Integrated alcohol and sexual assault prevention for heavy drinking college men: Short term findings from a randomized pilot trial. Annual Meeting of the Research Society on Alcoholism. San Antonio, TX2015.

52. Orchowski LM, Barnett NP, Borsari B, Wood M, Zlotnick C, Oesterle D. Open trial findings of UR-SAFE: An integrated sexual assault and alcohol intervention for high risk college men. Annual Meeting of the American Psychological Association; 2015; Toronto, Canada.

53. Orchowski LM, Barnett NP, Borsari B, et al. Randomized pilot trial of an integrated alcohol and sexual assault prevention program for heavy drinking college men: Six month findings. Annual Conference of the Research Society on Alcoholism. New Orleans, LA2016.

54. Berkowitz A. Men and rape: Theory, research, and prevention programs in higher education. San Francisco, CA1994.

55. Berkowitz AD. College men as perpetrators of acquaintance rape and sexual assault: A review of recent research. Journal of American College Health 1992;40:175-81.

56. Berkowitz A. Critical elements of sexual-assault prevention and risk-reduction programs for men and women. In: Kilmartin C, Berkowitz AD, eds. Sexual assault in Context. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum; 2001:75-96.

57. Spaull N. Schooling in South Africa: How Low Quality Education Becomes a Poverty Trap. University of Cape Town2015.

58. Haines M, Spear SF. Changing the perception of the norm: a strategy to decrease binge drinking among college students. Journal of American college health : J of ACH 1996;45:134-40.

59. Johannessen K, Collins C, Glider P, Mills-Novoa B. A Practical Guide to Alcohol Abuse Prevention: A Campus Case Study in Implementing Social Norms and Environmental Management Approaches. 1999.

60. Linkenbach JW. The Montana model: Development and overview of a seven-step process for implementing macro-level social norms campaigns. The Social Norms Approach to Preventing School and College Age Substance Abuse: A Handbook for Educators, Counselors, and Clinicians San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass 2003.

61. Berkowitz A. A Grassroots Guide to Fostering Healthy Norms to Reduce Violence in Our Communities: A Social Norms Toolkit. New Jersey: New Jersey Coalition Against Sexual Assault; 2013.

62. Haines MP, Perkins HW, Rice RM, Barker G. A guide to marketing social norms for health promotion in schools and communities: National Social Norms Resource Center; 2005.

63. Perkins W, Berkowitz A, Haines M, et al. The Toolbox - 7-Step Montana Model on Social Norms Marketing. Most of Us; 2010:18.

64. DeJong W, Schneider SK, Towvim LG, et al. A multisite randomized trial of social norms marketing campaigns to reduce college student drinking: a replication failure. Substance abuse : official publication of the Association for Medical Education and Research in Substance Abuse 2009;30:127-40.

65. Denno DM, Chandra-Mouli V, Osman M. Reaching youth with out-of-facility HIV and reproductive health services: a systematic review. J Adolesc Health 2012;51:106-21.

66. Motsoaledi P, Motshekga A. Integrated School Health Policy: South Africa Department of Health, South Africa Department of Education; 2013.

67. Mathews C, Eggers S, de Vries P, et al. Reaching the hard to reach: longitudinal investigation of adolescents' attendance at an after-school sexual and reproductive health programme in Western Cape, South Africa. BMC Public Health 2015;15:608.

68. Namisi F, Aaro LE, Kaaya S, et al. Adolescents' Communication with Parents, Other Adult Family Members and Teachers on Sexuality: Effects of School-Based Interventions in South Africa and Tanzania. AIDS Behav 2015.

69. Wubs AG, Aaro LE, Kaaya S, Onya H, Mathews C. Social Cognition Variables and Victimization as Predictors of Sexual Debut Among Adolescents in South Africa and Tanzania: A Multi-group SEM Analysis. AIDS Behav 2015.

70. Perkins H. Social norms and the prevention of alcohol misuse in collegiate contexts. Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs 2002:164.

71. Mathews C, Guttmacher S, Flisher A, Mtshizana Y, Hani A, Zwarenstein M. Written Parental Consent in School-Based HIV/AIDS Prevention Research. American Journal of Public Health 2005;95:1266-9.

72. Morse J. The significance of saturation. Qualitative Health Research 1995;5:147-9.

73. Glaser B, Strauss A. The discovery of grounded theory: strategies for qualitative research. Chicago: Aldine; 1967.

74. Strauss A, Corbin J. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. 2nd Edition ed. London: Sage Publications; 1998.

75. Bowen GA. Grounded Theory and Sensitizing Concepts. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2006;5:12-23.

76. Bellg A, Resnick B, Minicucci D, et al. Enhancing treatment fidelity in health behavior change studies: Best practices and recommendations from the NIH Behavior Change Consortium. Health Psychology 2004;23:443-51.

77. Goldberg JH, Kiernan M. Innovative techniques to address retention in a behavioral weight-loss trial. Health Educ Res 2005;20:439-47.

78. Dolezal C, Marhefka SL, Santamaria EK, Leu CS, Brackis-Cott E, Mellins CA. A comparison of audio computer-assisted self-interviews to face-to-face interviews of sexual behavior among perinatally HIV-exposed youth. Arch Sex Behav 2012;41.

79. Larsen DL, Attkisson CC, Hargreaves WA, Nguyen TD. Assessment of client/patient satisfaction: Development of a general scale. Evaluation and Program Planning 1979;2:197-207.

80. Edwards KM, Banyard VL, Sessarego SN, et al. Measurement Tools to Assess Relationship Abuse and Sexual Assault Prevention Program Effectiveness Among Youth. Psychology of violence 2018;8:537-45.

81. Edwards KM, Rodenhizer-Stampfli KA, Eckstein RP. Bystander Action in Situations of Dating and Sexual Aggression: A Mixed Methodological Study of High School Youth. J Youth Adolesc 2015;44:2321-36.

82. Miller E, Tancredi DJ, McCauley HL, et al. "Coaching Boys into Men": A Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial of a Dating Violence Prevention Program. Journal of Adolescent Health 2012;51:431-8.

83. Payne DL, Lonsway KA, Fitzgerald LF. Rape myth acceptance: Exploration of its structure and its measurement using the Illinois Rape Myth Acceptance Scale. Journal of Research in Personality 1999;33:27-68.

84. Boeringer SB, Shehan CL, Akers RL. Social contexts and social learning in sexual coercion and aggression: Assessing the contribution of fraternity membership. Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies 1991;40:58-64.

85. Pulerwitz J, Barker G. Measuring attitudes toward gender norms among young men in Brazil: development and psychometric evaluation of the GEM scale. Men Masculinities 2008;10.

86. Koss MP, Abbey A, Campbell R, et al. The Sexual Experiences Short Form Tucson, AZ University of Arizona; 2006.

87. Bruner J, B. Measuring rape-supportive attitudes, behaviors, and perceived peer norms among college men: Validation of a social norms survey. US: ProQuest Information & Learning; 2003.

88. Banyard VL, Moynihan MM, Cares AC, Warner R. How do we know if it works? Measuring outcomes in bystander-focused abuse prevention on campuses. Psychology of violence 2014;4:101.

89. Banyard VL. Measurement and correlates of prosocial bystander behavior: The case of interpersonal violence. Violence and Victims 2008;23:83-97.

90. Innovations P. Evidence-Based Measures of Bystander Action to Prevent Sexual Abuse and Intimate Partner Abuse: Resources for Practitioners. 2015.

91. Lopman B, Barnabas R, Boerma JT, et al. Creating and validating an algorithm to measure AIDS mortality in the adult population using verbal autopsy. PLoS Medicine 2006;3:1273-81.

92. Becker E, Kuo C, Cluver L, Operario D, Moshabela M. Assessing reliability of the verbal autopsy method for identifying HIV status among a living population: concurrent agreement of caregiver and child reports in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa. Sex Transm Infect 2015;91:528-33.

93. Kalichman SC, Simbayi L. Traditional beliefs about the cause of AIDS and AIDS-related stigma in South Africa. AIDS Care 2004;16:572-80.

94. Kalichman SC, Simbayi LC, Jooste S, et al. Development of a brief scale to measure AIDS-related stigma in South Africa. AIDS and Behavior 2005;9:135-43.

95. Kalichman SC, Simbayi LC, Cloete A, Mthembu PP, Mkhonta RN, Ginindza T. Measuring AIDS stigmas in people living with HIV/AIDS: the Internalized AIDS-Related Stigma Scale. AIDS Care 2009;21:87-93.

96. St. Lawrence J, Reitman D, Jefferson K, Alleyne E, Brasfield T, Shirley A. Factor structure and validation of an adolescent version of the condom attitude scale: an instrument for measuring adolescent's attitudes toward condoms. Psychological Assessment 1994;6:352-9.

97. Brafford LJ, Beck KH. Development and validation of a condom self-efficacy scale for college students. Journal of American college health : J of ACH 1991;39:219-25.

98. Stanton B, Deveaux L, Lunn S, et al. Condom-use skills checklist: a proxy for assessing condom-use knowledge and skills when direct observation is not possible. Journal of health, population, and nutrition 2009;27:406-13.

99. Connor KM, Davidson JRT. Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson resilience scale (CD-RISC). Depression and anxiety 2003;18:76-82.

100. Radloff L. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Applied Psychological Measurement 1977;1:385–401.

101. Eaton WW, Smith C, Ybarra M, Muntaner C, Tien A. Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: review and revision (CESD and CESD-R). In: Maruish M, ed. The Use of Psychological Testing for Treatment Planning and Outcomes Assessment Instruments for Adults. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum; 2004:363–77.

102. Bush K, Kivlahan DR, M.B. M, al. e. The AUDIT Alcohol Consumption Questions (AUDIT-C): An effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Arch Internal Med 1998;3:1789-95.

103. Berman A, Bergman H, Palmstierna T, Schlyter F. Evaluation of the Drug Use Disorders Identification Test (DUDIT) in Criminal Justice and Detoxification Settings and in a Swedish Population Sample. Eur Addict Res 2005;11:22–31.

104. Zeger S, Liang K. Longitudinal data analysis for discrete and continuous outcomes. Biometrics 1986;42:121-30.

105. Shisana O, Rehle T, LC S, et al. South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence and Behaviour Survey, 2012. Cape Town: HSRC Press; 2014.

106. Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence. World Health Organization, 2013. at http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85239/1/9789241564625 eng.pdf?ua=1.)

107. Folayan MO, Haire B, Harrison A, Fatusi O, Brown B. Beyond informed consent: ethical considerations in the design and implementation of sexual and reproductive health research among adolescents. African journal of reproductive health 2014;18:118-26.